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Corporate Vision

We aim to be the leading logistics service 
provider in the region, specialising in 
machinery and equipment relocation 
solutions.
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Chasen specialises in providing  
relocation and transportation of 
machinery and equipment, whether it 
is within a country or from one country 
to another.

the Chasen Group (“Group”) is a special ist relocation solutions 
provider offering specialist manpower equipped with appropriate 
tools, equipment, material and vehicles to relocate the machinery 
and equipment used by customers in their manufacturing or other 
business operations within their premises, from one location to 
another location within a country, or from one country to another 
country. 

the Chasen Group acts as a strategic partner to its customers in the 
management of their relocation needs, specialising in the relocation 
of machinery and equipment with a well-trained and productive 
workforce utilising state of the art material handling and conveyance 
tools, equipment and facilities.

Our Group’s capabilities now cover technical services as we extend 
the scope of our services to include businesses with regular income 
stream.
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Report to Shareholders

Dear shareholders,

2007 is a significant year in our corporate history. Chasen Logistics services Limited (“CLs”) successfully completed 
its reverse acquisition of China entertainment sports Ltd, a sGX-sesDaQ listed company. On 6 February 2007, the 
new Directors were appointed to the Board. the listed entity has since been renamed Chasen holdings Limited. We 
will continue to be focused on the business of providing specialised equipment relocation solutions for high-end 
industries such as electronics manufacturing, wafer fabrication, tFt panel display manufacturing, pharmaceutical 
and biomedical.
  
Performance Highlights
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to report that for the financial period (“FP”) ended 31 march 
2007, the Group’s revenue rose to $20.8 million from $13.4 million in the financial year (“FY”) ended 31 December 
2005. 

Our gross profit increased marginally by about $1.4 million or 19.4% as the higher revenue was offset by the 
increase in cost of sales, which increased by $6.0 million or 95.6%. however, gross profit margin was reduced 
from 53.1% for the FY ended 31 December 2005 to 40.8% for the FP ended 31 march 2007. this was due mainly 
to additional direct expenses of about $3.5 million, which arose from expenses incurred by a newly incorporated 
subsidiary, ReI technologies Pte Ltd (“ReI”), and the newly setup relocation operations in malaysia. additional 
depreciation charges resulting from the acquisition of new fixed assets and increased transportation vehicle rental 
charges, especially in the PRC for the Kunshan project, contributed to higher direct expenses. ReI’s profit margin of 
about 17.5% also contributed to the Group’s gross profit margin.

the Group’s profit before tax fell 43.6% compared to the FY ended 31 December 2005 due to the lower gross 
profit margin, increased expenses and the writing off of goodwill which arose from the reverse acquisition. Overall, 
earnings per share fell 54.0% to 0.0157 cents at the end of FP ended 31 march 2007 from 0.0341 cents at the 
end of FY ended 31 December 2005. 

Cash and bank balances increased from about $3.5 million to about $6.1 million. this was due to the increase in 
revenue, which offset the acquisition of new fixed assets valued at about $1.6 million.

0302



Business Review
the increase of 55.1% in the Group’s revenue was attributed to several reasons. During the year, we undertook 
major projects for customers such as United test & assembly Center Ltd, st microelectronics Pte Ltd and tech 
semiconductor (singapore) Pte Ltd. a newly incorporated subsidiary in singapore, ReI technologies Pte Ltd 
(“ReI”), with its core business in the provision of repair, maintenance and technical services, also contributed to 
the Group’s revenue. Furthermore, there was an increase in revenue in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 
region, mainly due to a relocation project in Kunshan for Infovision Optoelectronics (Kunshan) Co. Ltd and the 
warehouse management service contract in the PRC. In malaysia, a project for Infineon technologies (Kulim) sdn 
Bhd contributed to the increase in the Group’s revenue. 

Business Segmentation
specifically, contribution from relocation services continued to be our primary source of revenue, accounting for 
61.4% of the Group’s revenue in the FP ended 31 march 2007, compared to 76.3% in the FY ended 31 December 
2005. the warehousing and related services segment accounted for 11.2% of the Group’s revenue, whilst the 
packing services segment accounted for 9.3%.

We also established a new business segment - technical services, as part of our plan to extend the scope of 
the Group’s services to include businesses with regular income stream. this segment accounted for 18.1% of 
revenue.

Geographical Segmentation
Geographically, revenue from singapore and others, which included countries such as Japan, Korea, hong Kong 
and the Usa, accounted for 71.2% of the Group’s revenue. Revenue contributions from the PRC and malaysia 
accounted for 24.4% and 4.4% respectively.  

Outlook, Going Forward
International players from industries such as electronics manufacturing and wafer fabrication have announced 
plans in recent years to set up their facilities in singapore. Developments in the manufacturing industry, such 
as these, bode well for our industry as they open new business opportunities. We will monitor and ride on these 
industry trends and harness the opportunities in the marketplace.

We will also continue our penetration into markets in the PRC. as manufacturing shifts into and around the region, 
demand for specialist relocation services will continue to be robust. Our Group has already established offices and 
operations in shanghai and Beijing. In FP ended 31 march 2007, we executed relocation projects in other parts of 
PRC such as Kunshan, Wuxi, Chengdu and we plan to reinforce our market position in newly industrialised areas 
such as Xian and Chongqing.

to extend our logistics capabilities, we are expanding our facilities for air-conditioned warehousing in singapore 
as well as investing in bonded warehouse facilities in the PRC. these developments would give us an edge over 
our competitors in this highly specialised business.

Acknowledgements
Last but not least, I would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to our directors and 
employees for their contribution and dedication as well as our suppliers, customers and business partners for their 
continued support over the years. 

I would also like to thank our shareholders for their confidence in us. Our management will continue to seek 
opportunities to improve the market position of the Group. together, let us work towards another challenging but 
fruitful year ahead. 

Low Weng Fatt  
managing Director
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Board of Directors
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L O w  w E N G  FAT T

mr Low is the managing Director of the Company and has been the managing Director of CLs since June 2001. 

he has been a Director of CLs since its incorporation in 1999 and was instrumental in ensuring the success of 

the reverse acquisition of China entertainment sports Ltd, which led to the listing of the Chasen Group on sGX-

sesDaQ. mr Low is responsible for strategic planning, overseeing the financial stability of and setting business 

goals and sales targets for the Group. as managing Director, he is also responsible for establishing the general 

business direction for the Group, providing the leadership to steer the Group through its growth plans in  local 

and regional markets and pioneering its regional investment project plans. he continues to identify new business 

opportunities for the Group in its post listing growth strategy.

mr Low joined CLs in 1996 as Project manager responsible for project management and operations control, 

technical service consultation, development of tools for use in operations and after sales support for Chasen 

Group’s clients. Recognising the growth potential of the equipment relocation business, he discontinued the labour 

supply business to focus on this segment of the business. he gradually built up the Group’s operational capability 

by acquiring a fleet of general and specialised trucks, purchase specialist material handling equipment and tools to 

improve operational efficiency and to meet the needs of increasingly sophisticated equipment being relocated and 

providing complementary warehousing, packing and crating services to customers.

In late 2003 he extended our Chasen Group’s operations to PRC which is now a major contributor to the Group’s 

revenue and in 2005 into malaysia which revenue contribution is substantial enough to be classified as a distinct 

geographical segment this fiscal year. mr Low was instrumental in establishing ReI to develop the Group’s technical 

support services as part of our growth strategy to extend the scope of our services to include businesses with 

regular income streams in order to even out the revenue flow throughout the year. 

From left top row: Low Weng Fatt , Siah Boon Hock, Yap Koon Bee@ Louis Yap, 
Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick, Yong Kwet Leong
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S I A H  B O O N  H O C k

mr siah is an executive Director of the Company. he was appointed to the Board of CLs on 22 april 2005. he is 

responsible for the general management of sales and marketing function in the Group and assists the managing 

Director in strategic planning  and overseeing the Company’s expansion into overseas markets. Besides assuming 

personal responsibility for sales in certain markets, as executive Director, mr siah heads the Corporate marketing 

Office which co-ordinates the Group’s overall marketing plans and strategies. the Corporate marketing Office is 

responsible for the development of the Group’s marketing capability in the various markets that it operates in and 

for monitoring the achievement of the Group’s total revenue. he is also responsible for business development of 

the Group, assisting the managing Director in exploring and following up new business opportunities as well as 

extending our existing businesses into new markets. 

mr siah has over 15 years of experience in sales and marketing which includes being a regional sales manager 

responsible for the sales and market development of supply chain management solutions to personal computer 

Oems with internationally recognized brands such as apple, IBm, Compaq (now known as hewlett Packard) in asia. 

Prior to joining the Company, he was a director of ascomp Cyberware International Pte Ltd from 2000 to 2001, 

where he managed the sales development of the trading company.

YA p  k O O N  B E E  @  L O u I S  YA p

mr Yap is a non-executive Director of the Company. he has been a Director of CLs since its incorporation in 1999. 

he founded the business in 1995 as a partnership to supply labour for the stuffing and unstuffing of containers, 

packing and warehousing. he managed the Company’s business until 2001 when he retired from active business 

management but has remained a non-executive Director of the Company. he has been involved in the business of 

labour supply as well as transport and warehousing since the 1960s and possesses substantial experience in the 

business of labour supply as well as transport and warehousing operations.

although a non executive Director, mr Yap still maintains an advisory role in the Company and continues to provide 

business network and market contacts to the Company and its subsidiaries.

N G  J w E E  p H u A N  @  F R E D E R I C k  ( E R I C )

mr ng is the Lead Independent Director of the Company and was appointed to the Board of CLs on 27 april 2005. 

mr ng has been the Principal Consultant of Chadway management service Pte Ltd since 1982. he is responsible for 

providing operational management, strategic planning and corporate finance services to companies in singapore 

and the region, and advises them on their business growth and globalisation strategies as well as capital market 

and corporate governance issues. mr ng is also active in various societies and institutions, being a member of the 

singapore Institute of Directors and the singapore human Resource Institute. he also served as District Governor 

for singapore of Lions Clubs International from 2002 to 2003.

Y O N G  k w E T  L E O N G

mr Yong is an Independent Director of the Company and was appointed to the Board of CLs on 27 april 2005. mr Yong 

is sole proprietor of Yong & Partners. he is involved in social service activities and is on the management committee 

of heLP Family service Centre and Canossaville Children’s home. mr Yong has been a practising advocate and 

solicitor of the supreme Court of singapore since 9 september 1981. he was called to the english Bar on 24 July 

1980. mr Yong was admitted as a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of arbitrators in 1994. he obtained a Bachelor 

of arts Degree from the University of singapore, now known as the national University of singapore, in 1979.
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Operations Review

The Chasen Group relocates companies’ equipment 

and machinery to, within, and out of Singapore and 

around the region. Our sophisticated material handling 

tools are equipped to handle very sensitive machinery 

and equipment whether it is in Clean Room or “raised 

floor” environment.

0706

Relocation Services 

Packing Services 

Our major customers are in the electronics 
manufacturing, wafer fabrication, chip testing 
and assembly, TFT panel display manufacturing 
and other machinery and equipment owners.

The Chasen Group, through years of experience, has 

acquired the skill of packing according to OEM (Original 

Equipment Manufacturer) specifications. We utilise 

state-of-the-art packaging material when customers’ 

machinery and equipment need special packing before 

being transported to their new locations.
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We provide a comprehensive range of relocation services, 
which encompasses machinery and equipment moving services 
through projects or maintenance contracts. the total Logistics 
management service to customers includes relocating customers’ 
machinery and equipment out of singapore, providing door to door 
turnkey services and materials management services.  

Our services include the packing of machinery and equipment 
to Oem specifications and the supply of packaging and crating 
materials. We have extensive experience in our area of expertise 
and the skills acquired over the years enable us to cater to 
customers’ specific needs.
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Operations Review
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Equipment Repair, Maintenance 
and Related Technical Services 

Warehousing and Related Services 

Our customers store their machinery and equipment in 

our warehouses while waiting for installation or shipping. 

To accommodate bulky and heavy equipment, Chasen 

Group’s warehouses are low-rise with appropriately 

constructed floors that allow cranes and heavy trucks 

access to the storage areas.

Through our subsidiary, REI, the Chasen Group provides 

turnkey   facilities  and engineering solutions, repair and  

maintenance  services of equipment to customers in the 

high-tech electronics industries such as semiconductors, 

disk media, thin-film transistor LCD, pharmaceutical and 

back-end packaging. 
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ReI is the representative for Canon-anelva Corporation in 
singapore. Our scope of business includes engineering service 
and spares support, parts fabrication and clean sales activities to 
institutions and research facilities. ReI operates a cryogenic pump 
refurbishment workshop in Prai, Penang, malaysia.

Our facilities solutions include Clean Room construction, full facility 
fit-up from base build to fully operational factory, equipment/
manufacturing line facilities hookup and relocation. 

We provide warehousing for customers’ machinery and new or 
replacement equipment before installation or shipping, as well 
as land transportation services. In singapore, we have our own 
fleet of diversified and state-of-the-art transportation vehicles, 
materials handling tools and equipment that cater to customers’ 
relocation needs. these include four 40-footer trailers and a 30-
footer trailer equipped with air suspension and roller systems that 
are essential when transporting sensitive equipment.
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Financial Highlights
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Revenue

Revenue in FP 2007 increased 55% over FY 2005 due to :

• FP 2007 covered 15 months business operation as the financial    

   year ended on 31 march 2007.

• C o n t r i b u t i o n  f r o m  n e w  b u s i n e s s  s e g m e n t  -  te c h n i c a l 

  s e r v i c e s  which was established in the f inancial period.

• the group exper ienced increased revenue in  a l l  bus iness  

   segments espec ia l l y  warehous ing and re la ted ser v ices as 

   there were more wafer  p lants  re locat ion in  as ia .

the reduction in profit after tax for FP 2007 is due to :

• a one time write off amounting to s$1.86m of Goodwill arising    

   from the reverse acquisition.  

• higher operational expenses as our business expanded.

2 0 0 5

2 0 0 4

$ 5 . 4 8 m

$ 1 6 . 3 0 m

$ 5 . 3 3 m

2 0 0 2

2 0 0 3

* 2 0 0 7

$ 2 0 . 7 9 m

$ 1 3 . 4 0 m

* FP ended 31st march 2007 
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Revenue Analysis

F Y  2 0 0 4

7 2 . 5 8 %

1 4 . 6 2 %

1 2 . 8 0 %

re loca t ion  ser v ices     pack ing  ser v ices     warehous ing  & re la ted  ser v ices     techn ica l  se r v ices

By Business segment Relocation Packing Warehousing technical services

F p  2 0 0 7

6 1 . 4 4 %

9 . 3 2 %

1 1 . 1 4 %

1 8 . 1 0 %

F Y  2 0 0 5

7 6 . 3 0 %

1 0 . 9 2 %

1 2 . 7 8 %

Profit After Tax

2 0 0 5

2 0 0 4

$ 0 . 0 2 m

$ 5 . 6 0 m

2 0 0 3

* 2 0 0 7

$ 1 . 9 6 m

$ 4 . 4 8 m

2 0 0 2

$ 0 . 5 1 m

* FP ended 31st march 2007 
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Executive Officers
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TA N  S O O N G  H w A  R E B E C C A  -  F I N A N C I A L  C O N T R O L L E R

ms tan joined the Company as Financial Controller in June 2007.  she is primarily 

responsible for the Group’s accounting and financial operations as well as reporting and 

other compliance requirements of the Company. she will also be responsible for developing 

the Group’s internal control system. she has over 20 years of experience in finance and 

accounting working for companies such as sV Probe Pte Ltd, Kulicke & soffa singapore Inc, 

american Fine Wire Ltd  and toshiba asia Pacific Pte Ltd.  ms tan is a member of the Institute 

of Certified Public accountants of singapore and a fellow with the association of Chartered 

Certified accountants of UK.  she holds a master Degree in Business administration from the 

University of adelaide, australia.

Y E O  S E C k  C H E O N G  -  G E N E R A L  M A N A G E R  ( p R C )

mr Yeo is the General manager (PRC) of the Group. In this capacity, he is the CeO of 

Chasen PRC relocation and warehouse operations conducted through Chasen (shanghai) hi 

tech machinery services Pte Ltd (“Chasen hi tech”) and Chasen sino-sin (Beijing) hi tech 

services Private Ltd (“Chasen Beijing”). he is responsible for the overall operations and the 

sales and marketing of the Group’s business in the PRC. he joined the Company in 2000 

as a Project manager responsible for executing relocations projects. he transferred this 

experience to PRC and has successfully managed Chasen logistics operations there since 

its establishment. he also assists the managing Director in developing and executing the 

Group’s growth strategy in the PRC market.

C H E O N G  T u C k  N A N G  -  G E N E R A L  M A N A G E R  ( R E G I O N A L  O p E R AT I O N S )

mr Cheong is the General manager (Regional Operations) of the Company. he is responsible 

for the overall manpower training and implementation of safe moving methods and procedures 

for the Group’s warehousing and relocation businesses. his operational responsibilities 

include trouble shooting, providing technical and engineering solutions and design of 

specialised relocation tools as and when needed for specific projects. he is also responsible 

for the execution of major projects of the Group in the region and the provision of after-sales 

support to the Group’s customers. Over the past year mr Cheong has been based in PRC as 

our Group’s operations there expanded. In particular he supervised the successful execution 

of relocation projects in the Beijing area. 
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D I x z Y q u O  N u R M A N  -  G E N E R A L  M A N A G E R  ( S I N G A p O R E )

mr Dixzyquo is the General manager (singapore) of the Company. he joined the Company 

in 2000 as a Business Planning manager responsible for planning and coordinating the 

business processes of the Company and preparing sales reports and market analysis. 

he was promoted to his current position in 2004 to oversee relocation projects, general 

warehousing and after-sales support to customers in singapore. he is also responsible 

for the successful execution of turnkey relocation projects out of singapore including the 

relocation of a plant from the Us to malaysia.

A Lv I N  C H I A N G  M u N  H O E  -  G E N E R A L  M A N A G E R  ( R E I  T E C H N O L O G I E S 

p T E .  LT D )

mr Chiang is the General manager of ReI technologies Pte. Ltd (“ReI”), a subsidiary of the 

Group. he is responsible for steering the growth of ReI, successful execution of its service 

operations and strategic planning for this subsidiary. he joined the Group in may 2006 

to set up ReI to provide equipment repair, maintenance and related technical services to 

complement the Group’s relocation logistics business. Prior to joining ReI, he had been 

with singapore-listed technology company, ellipsiz Ltd, where he oversaw operations, 

regional market growth, business development as well as co-ordinated public and investor 

relations for the company. he had also been with teCh semiconductor (s) Pte Ltd where his 

responsibilities covered production / material planning and control, equipment maintenance, 

special device / technology conversion projects and procurement. mr Chiang holds a Diploma 

in mechanical engineering from the singapore Polytechnic and a Bachelor of science 

(mechanical engineering) from the University of Oklahoma, Usa. 

YA p  B E N G  G E O k  D O R O T H Y  –  A D M I N I S T R AT I O N  M A N A G E R

ms Yap is the administration manager of the Group. she is responsible for the day-to-day 

administrative workflow, human resource matters and the general administration of the 

Company in singapore and provides support to our regional operations whenever required. 

she also provided invaluable assistance during the reverse acquisition exercise. ms Yap 

joined Chasen Logistics services Limited in 1995 and over the past 10 years she has 

been with the Chasen Group, she has acquired in-depth knowledge of many aspects of the 

Group’s business, including its operation and administration. she was previously in charge 

of the Group’s accounting matters. Prior to joining the Chasen Group, ms Yap worked as an 

administrative Officer with a Japanese multinational in singapore. she is the daughter of 

mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, non-executive Director and a Controlling shareholder of the 

Company.
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Corporate Milestones

1 9 9 5

Chasen Logis t ics  ser v ices began bus iness as a 

par tnersh ip operating from its office in Wallich street. 

1 9 9 6

moved to  18 Ja lan Besut  as a resu l t  o f  bu isness 

expans ion.

awarded f i rs t  machiner y  and equipment  re locat ion 

pro ject .

1 9 9 8

awarded f i rs t  wafer  fabr icat ion in-house machiner y 

mover  contract .

1 9 9 9

Incorporated as Chasen Logis t ics  ser v ices Pte Ltd.

2 0 0 0

awarded first complete new wafer fabrication facility 

inbound project. 

2 0 0 1

awarded relocation project for the 1st tFt display panel 

manufacturing plant in singapore. 

awarded first turnkey project consolidating several 

manufacturing facilities of customer to one location in 

singapore.

awarded IsO 9001:2000 Certificate for Quality 

management system.

2 0 0 2

awarded first chip testing assembly in-house machinery 

mover and packer contract.

2 0 0 3

Business operations expanded to include the provision of 

specialised packing and crating services.
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2 0 0 4

set up overseas operations in PRC through Chasen 

(shanghai) hi tech machinery services Pte Ltd.

awarded first turnkey relocation project from singapore 

to PRC.

awarded Ohsas 18001: 1999 Cer t i f icate for 

Occupational health and safety management system.

equipment move in project for the 1st and 2nd LCD/

tFt panel manufacturing plant in PRC (shanghai & 

Beijing).

2 0 0 5

equipment move in project for the 3rd LCD/tFt panel 

manufacturing plant in PRC (Kunshan). 

2 0 0 6

equipment move in project for 8 inch wafer fabrication 

plant in malaysia (Kulim).

establishment of ReI technologies Pte Ltd which 

offers technical services to complement our logistics 

services.

2 0 0 7

Listed on sGX-sesDaQ via a reverse acquisition of 

China entertainment sports Ltd. 
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The Board of Directors of Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Board”) recognizes the importance of and is 
committed to setting and maintaining high standards of corporate governance to protect shareholders’ 
interests and enhance shareholders’ value and corporate transparency. This report describes the 
Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with reference to the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2005 (the “Code”).

The Company is in the course of implementing further practices to enhance compliance with the 
recommendation of the Code. Where there are deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations will be 
provided.

BOARD MATTERS

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the 
company. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works 
with Management to achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

The principal functions of the Board include the following:-

(a) Protecting and enhancing long-term value and return to its shareholders

(b)  Providing leadership and guidance on corporate strategy, business directions, risk management 
policy and implementation of corporate objectives

(c) Establishing, reviewing and approving the annual budget, corporate policies, strategies and 
objectives for the Group

(d)  Ensuring the effectiveness and integrity of management

(e)  Monitoring the Management’s achievement of these goals

(f)  Conducting periodic reviews of the Group’s financial performance, internal controls and reporting 
compliance

(g)  Approving nominations to the Board and appointment of key personnel

(h)  Ensuring the Group’s compliance with all relevant and applicable laws and regulations

(i)  Assuming responsibility for the corporate governance of the Group

To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board is supported by three committees, 
namely the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. Each 
Committee has its own defined terms of reference and operating procedures.

Chasen ho ld ings  L im i ted  2007 annua l  repor t  

Corporate Governance
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Corporate Governance

Formal Board meetings are held at least twice a year to approve the half-yearly results announcement and 

to oversee the business affairs of the Group. The Board is free to seek clarifi cation and information from 

management on all matters within their purview. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when the circumstances 

require. In the course of the fi nancial year under review, as at the date of this report, the number of Board 

and Committee meetings held and attended by each Board member is set out as follows:-

Name Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 
attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 
attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 
attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 
attended

Umar Abdul Hamid (1) 4 4 2 2 2 2 1 1

Dr Presley Orelle Reed (1) 4 0 – – – – – –

Abdul Rohim Bin Sarip (1) 4 4 2 2 2 2 1 1

Lim Soon Hock (1) 4 4 2 2 2 2 1 1

Low Weng Fatt (2) 3 3 2* 2* 1 1 1* 1*

Siah Boon Hock (2) 3 3 2* 2* 1* 1* 1* 1*

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap (2) 3 3 2 2 1* 1* 1 1

Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (2) 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1

Yong Kwet Leong (2) 3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1

(1) Resigned on 6 February 2007

(2) Appointed on 6 February 2007

* By invitation

N.A. Not Applicable

The Board has in place an orientation and training programme for newly appointed Directors in order 

to familiarise them with the Group’s business operations, strategic directions, directors’ duties and 

responsibilities and corporate governance practices. The Directors are also kept abreast of any 

developments which are relevant to the Group and any developments of relevant new laws and 

regulations.

Training for Directors

The board has received relevant training to familiarise themselves with the roles and responsibilities of a 

director of a public listed company in Singapore. Management would conduct briefi ngs and orientation 

programmes to familiarise newly appointed Directors with the various businesses and operations of the 

Group. 
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Board Composition and Balance
Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to 
exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. 
No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision 
making.

The Nominating Committee has reviewed the size and composition of the Board. It is satisfi ed that 

the current Board size is appropriate and effective, and the Board comprises members from diverse 

background and posses varied expertise in fi nance, academic, business and management fi eld.

The Board of Directors consists of fi ve members, the majority of whom are non-executive including two 

who are Independent Directors:-

Executive Directors
Low Weng Fatt (Managing Director)

Siah Boon Hock

Non-Executive Director
Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

Independent Directors
Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric)

Yong Kwet Leong

The Board considers an “Independent” Director as one who has no relationship with the Company, its 

related corporation or its offi cers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the 

exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment. 

The Nominating Committee has reviewed the independence of each director for the fi nancial period ended 

31 March 2007 in accordance with the Code’s defi nition of independence and is satisfi ed that one-third of 

the Board comprises of Independent Directors.

The Nominating Committee is of the view that the Board comprises Directors who have the appropriate 

mix of diversity, expertise and experience, and collectively possess the necessary core competencies for 

effective functioning and informed decision-making.

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the 
working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will 
ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable 
concentration of power.

Low Weng Fatt is the CEO in the Company and as such, has executive responsibility for the Group’s 

businesses. Responsibility for the workings of the Board is jointly held by Low Weng Fatt and Lead 

Independent Director Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) who ensures that procedures are introduced to 

comply with the Code.

To further enhance the independence of the Board, the Board has appointed Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick 

(Eric) as the Lead Independent Director to co-ordinate the activities of the Independent Directors, to act 

as the principal liaison between the Independent Directors and the CEO on sensitive issues and to hold 

meetings with Independent Directors when required.
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The Board has set clear guidelines in respect of decisions that are to be made by the Board, decisions 

that are to be made by the Managing Director in consultation with the Board while leaving it to the 

judgement of management as to other matters that ought to be referred to the Board. The Board is of the 

opinion that the process of decision making by the Board has been independent and has been based on 

collective decisions without any individual exercising any considerable concentration of power or infl uence.  

Board Membership
Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new 
directors to the Board. 

The Nominating Committee was reconstituted on 26 March 2007 and currently comprises the following 

three members, of whom two are Independent Directors:-

 Yong Kwet Leong (Chairman)

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric)

 Low Weng Fatt

The duties of the Nominating Committee are, inter alia,:-

(1) To make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments and on the composition of the 

Board generally and the balance between executive and non-executive Directors appointed to the 

Board to ensure that the Board as a whole possess the right blend of relevant experiences and core 

competencies to effectively manage the Company.

(2) To review, assess and recommend nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the 

Board, having regard to his/her requisite qualifi cations and competency and whether or not he/she 

is independent and in the case of a re-nomination, to his/her contribution and performance (e.g. 

attendance, preparedness, participation and candour).

(3) To determine, on an annual basis, if a Director is independent.  

(4) To recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election.

(5) To determine/propose objective performance criteria for evaluating the performance of the Board 

and each of its Directors with respect to the Director’s delegated duties.

(6) To assist the Board to implement a process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 

and for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. 

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director (except the Managing Director i.e. our 

CEO, who may be appointed for a term of up to fi ve years) must retire from offi ce at least once every three 

years by rotation. Directors who retire are eligible to offer themselves for re-election.

New Directors are appointed by way of Board resolution following which they are subject to re-election by 

shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting.

Each member of the Nominating Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect to his 

re-nomination as a Director.
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Board Performance
Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Nominating Committee will establish a formal process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as 

a whole and for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board and the Nominating Committee have endeavored to ensure that Directors appointed to the 

Board possess the experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group’s business.

Access to Information
Principle 6: In order to fulfi ll their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with 
complete, adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

To enable the Board to fulfi ll its responsibility, Management strives to provide Board members with 

adequate information for Board and committee meetings on an ongoing basis. Board and committee 

papers are prepared for each meeting and are disseminated to the members before the meetings. 

Board and committee papers includes suffi cient information from Management on fi nancial, business 

and corporate matters of the Group so as to enable directors to be properly briefed on matters to be 

considered at the Board and committee meetings. Directors are given separate and independent access 

to the Group’s key executives and Company Secretaries to address any enquiries. 

The Company Secretary attend all Board and sub-committee meetings and are responsible for ensuring 

that proper procedures at such meetings are followed. Together with the Company’s management, 

they are responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with the requirements of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and other rules and regulations that are applicable to the 

Company. Directors may seek professional advice in furtherance of their duties and the costs will be borne 

by the Company.

The Board has separate and independent access to the Company’s management and the Company 

Secretary at all times. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the approval 

of the Board. 

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 
executive remuneration and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No 
director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee was reconstituted on 26 March 2007 and currently comprises the following 

three members, of whom two are independent directors:-

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (Chairman)

 Yong Kwet Leong

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap
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The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia:-

(1) To review and submit its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, a framework of 

remuneration and the specifi c remuneration packages and terms of employment (where applicable) 

for each director, CEO (or executive of equivalent rank) if the CEO is not a Director and senior 

management, including but not limited to senior executives who report directly to the CEO of the 

Group and employees related to the Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders of the Group. 

The Independent Directors on the RC shall review and approve annually the total remuneration of the 

Directors, Executive Offi cers and other employees who are related to the Substantial Shareholders.

(2) To review and submit its recommendations for endorsement by the Board, the awards granted 

under the Chasen Performance Share Plan or any long term incentive schemes which may be set 

up from time to time and to do all acts necessary in connection therewith.

(3) To cover all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 

bonuses, options and benefi ts-in-kind in the RC’s review and recommendations.

Each member of the Remuneration Committee refrains from voting on any resolutions in respect of the 

assessment of his remuneration. No Director will be involved in determining his own remuneration. 

The Remuneration Committee has full authority to engage any external professional advice on matters 

relating to remuneration as and when the need arises.

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the 
directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more 
than is necessary for this purpose. A signifi cant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration 
should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Remuneration Committee will take into account the industry norms, the Group’s performance as well 

as the contribution and performance of each Director when determining remuneration packages.

The Independent Directors receive Directors’ fees and share awards under the Chasen Performance Share 

Plan, in accordance with their contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent 

responsibilities of the Directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate the 

Directors. The Independent Directors shall not be over-compensated to the extent their independence may 

be compromised.

The remuneration for the Executive Directors and Management comprise a basic salary component and a 

variable component, namely, the annual bonus and share awards under the Chasen Performance Share 

Plan. The latter is based on the performance of the Group as a whole and their individual performance. 

The Board is of the view that the remuneration offered to the Directors and Management is fair and 

competitive. The Remuneration Committee will carry out annual reviews of the remuneration packages 

of the Directors and Management, having due regard to their contributions as well as the fi nancial and 

commercial needs of the Group.
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Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and 
mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual 
report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors 
to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and 
performance.

Company’s Directors receiving remuneration from the Group for the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007 

are as follows:-

Remuneration Band Number of Directors

S$500,000 and above 0

S$250,000 to below S$500,000 0

Below S$250,000 5

Total 5

A breakdown of each individual director’s and key executive’s remuneration, in percentage terms showing 

the level and mix for the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007, is as follows:-

Fees
%

Salary
%

Bonus
%

Other 
benefi ts

%

Total 
compensation

%

Directors

S$250,000 to below S$500,000

– – – – – –

Below S$250,000

Low Weng Fatt – 92% 8% – 100%

Siah Boon Hock – 75% 6% 19% 100%

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 100% – – 100%

Ng Jwee Puan @ Frederick 100% – – – 100%

Yong Kwet Leong 100% – – 100%

Key Management

S$250,000 to below S$500,000

– – – – – –

Below S$250,000

Cheong Tuck Nang – 92% 8% – 100%

Chiang Mun Hoe Alvin – 61% 23% 16% 100%

DizxzyQuo Nurman – 92% 8% – 100%

Yap Beng Geok Dorothy – 91% 9% – 100%

Yeo Seck Cheong – 92% 8% – 100%
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There is no employee of the Group who is an immediate family member of a director or substantial 

shareholder whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 for the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and 

Key Management, having due regard to their contributions as well as the fi nancial and commercial needs 

of the Group and has ensured that the Directors are adequately but not excessively remunerated.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
company’s performance, position and prospects.

One of Board’s principal duties is to protect and enhance the long-term value and returns to our 

shareholders.

This accountability to our shareholders is demonstrated through the presentation of our periodic fi nancial 

statements as well as the timely announcements and news releases of signifi cant corporate developments 

and activities so that the shareholders can have a detailed explanation and balanced assessment of the 

Group’s fi nancial position and prospects.

The Management maintains close contact and communication with the Board by various means including 

the preparation and circulation to all Board members periodic fi nancial statements of the Group. This 

allows the Directors to monitor the Group’s performance as well as Management’s achievements of the 

goals and objectives determined and set by the Board.

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference 
which clearly set out its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee was reconstituted on 26 March 2007 and currently comprises the following three 

members, of whom two are independent directors:-

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (Chairman)

 Yong Kwet Leong

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

The Company has adopted and has complied with the principles of corporate governance under the Code 

in relation to the roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee are appropriately qualifi ed, having 

the necessary accounting or related fi nancial management expertise or experience to discharge their 

responsibilities.

The duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia:-

(1) To review with the external auditors:-

 (a) the audit plan, including the nature and scope of the audit before the audit commences,
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 (b) their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls,

 (c) their audit report, and

 (d) their management letter and Management’s response.

(2) To ensure co-ordination where more than one audit fi rm is involved.

(3) To review all formal announcements relating to the Company’s fi nancial performance and the 

half-year and annual fi nancial statements to ensure the integrity of the said fi nancial statements 

and formal announcements; and thereafter to submit them  to the Board for approval. The Audit 

Committee would focus, inter alia, on the following:-

 (a) signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgements,

 (b) changes in accounting policies and practices,

 (c) major risk areas,

 (d) signifi cant adjustments resulting from the audit,

 (e) the going concern statement,

 (f) compliance with accounting standards, 

 (g)  audit qualifi cations, if any; 

 (h) concerns and issues arising from the audits; and

 (i) compliance with stock exchange and statutory/regulatory requirements.

(4) To discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from the half-year and fi nal audits, in consultation 

with the external auditors and the internal auditors where necessary.

(5) To meet with the external auditors and with the internal auditors without the presence of 

Management, at least annually, to discuss any problems and concerns they may have. The external 

auditor has the right to appear and be heard at any meeting of the AC and shall appear before the 

Committee when required to do so by the Committee.

(6) To review the assistance given by Management to the external auditors.

(7) To review annually the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness as well as the 

independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

 Where the auditors also provide a substantial volume of non-audit services to the Company, to 

review the nature and extent of such services in order to balance the maintenance of objectivity and 

value for money, and to ensure that the independence of the auditors would not be affected. 

(8) To review the internal audit programme and ensure co-ordination between the internal and external 

auditors and Management.
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(9) To review the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the scope and results of the internal 

audit procedures and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has 

appropriate standing within the Company and to review and ensure annually the adequacy of the 

internal audit function. 

(10) To recommend to the Board if the internal audit function be in-house or out-sourced to a reputable 

public accounting/auditing fi rm. If the public accountant is also the external auditor of the Company, 

the AC should satisfy itself that the independence of the public accountant is not compromised by 

any other material relationship with the Company.

(11) To review the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls as set out in Guideline 12.1 of the 

Code of Corporate Governance. Guideline 12.1 states that the AC should review the adequacy 

of the Company’s internal fi nancial controls, operational control and compliance controls, and 

risk management policies and systems established by the Management (collectively “the internal 

controls”). The AC should ensure a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls is 

conducted at least annually.  

(12) To review the audited balance sheet and profi t and loss account of the Company and the audited 

consolidated balance sheet and profi t and loss account; and thereafter to submit to the Board.

(13)  To review all internal audit reports. The Internal Auditor’s primary line of reporting should be to the 

Chairman of the AC although the Internal Auditor would also report administratively to the CEO.

(14) To commission and review the fi ndings of internal investigations into matters where there is any 

suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, 

rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s and Group’s 

operating results or fi nancial position. To also discuss the above with the external auditors and to 

review Management’s response.

(15) To investigate any matter within its terms of reference, with full access to and co-operation by 

Management and full discretion to invite any director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings, and 

reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. 

(16) To review arrangements by which staff of the Company may, in confi dence, raise concerns 

about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters and ensure that 

arrangements are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate 

follow up actions.

(17) To report to the Board its fi ndings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of 

the Committee. In addition, upon the request of the auditor, the Chairman of the AC shall convene 

a meeting of the Committee to consider any matters the auditor believes should be brought to the 

attention of the Directors or Shareholders. 

(18) To recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment, removal and matters arising from the 

resignation of the external auditors, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 

external auditors.

(19) To review all other existing and future Interested Person Transactions not subject to the 

Shareholders’ Mandate to ensure that they are carried out at arm’s length basis and on normal 

commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and Minority Shareholders. 
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(20) To review all interested person transactions (IPTs) falling within the scope of the SGX-ST Listing 

Manual to ensure compliance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual and the principles of and best 

practices set out in the “Best Practices Guides” of the Listing Manual. 

(21) To update the SGX-ST on any fi ndings of the independent accounting fi rm commissioned to review 

the adequacy of the Group’s existing system of internal controls relating to interested person 

transactions review procedures (in the event trade transactions with Interested Persons in aggregate 

account for more than 5% of the total sales or purchases in the preceding year, as the case may 

be), and any follow up action taken by the AC, if any.

(22) to review the payment terms for interested person transactions on a regular basis;

(23) to review interested person transactions, including but not restricted to, comment in annual report 

as to whether the interested person transactions are conducted in accordance with the review 

procedures for Mandate Transactions;

(24) to review any potential confl icts of interest;

(25) to review the hedging policies, all types of instruments used for hedging as well as the foreign 

exchange policies and practices of the Group;

(26) to review the reporting structure relating to the Group’s accounting function and conduct semi-

annual meetings with the Financial Controller to ensure that the Financial Controller is able to 

discharge his responsibilities effectively;

(27) To undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the 

Board its fi ndings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

(28) To undertake generally such other functions and duties as may be required by law or the Listing 

Manual, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that Mandated Interested Persons Transactions for the fi nancial 

period ended 31 March 2007 are conducted in accordance with the review procedures for such Mandated 

Transactions

The Company is in the process of setting up a whistle blowing policy whereby accessible channels are 

provided for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or 

other matters which they become aware and to ensure that:-

(i) independent investigations are carried out in an appropriate and timely manner, 

(ii) appropriate action is taken to correct the weaknesses in internal controls and policies which allowed 

the perpetration of fraud and/or misconduct and to prevent a recurrence, and

 

(iii) administrative, disciplinary, civil and/or criminal actions that are initiated following the completion 

of investigations are appropriate balanced and fair, while providing reassurance that they will be 

protected from reprisals or victimization for whistle-blowing in good faith and without malice.
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The Audit Committee has full access to the Management and also full discretion to invite any Director 

or key management to attend its meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to 

discharge its function. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors, including fees 

paid for non-audit services during the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007 and is of the opinion that 

the external auditors’ independence has not been compromised. The Audit Committee has reviewed the 

performance of the external auditors and recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external 

auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Audit Committee has reviewed all Interested Person Transactions during the fi nancial period ended 31 

March 2007 and is of the opinion that Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual has been complied with.

In the event that a member of our Audit Committee is interested in any matter being considered by our 

Audit Committee, he will abstain from reviewing that particular transaction or voting on that particular 

resolution.

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of 
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The Board is responsible for the overall internal control framework and is fully aware of the need to put in 

place a system of internal controls within the Group to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s 

assets, and to manage risks. The Board recognizes that no cost effective internal control system will 

preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 

of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss. 

The Company’s internal and external auditors conduct an annual review of the effectiveness of the 

Company’s material internal controls. Any material non-compliance or failures in internal controls and 

recommendations for improvements are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee also 

reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by the management on the recommendations made by the 

internal and external auditors in this respect.

The Board is satisfi ed that currently there are adequate internal controls in the Group. The Board regularly 

reviews the effectiveness of all internal controls, including operational controls.

Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the 
activities it audits.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining an internal audit function that is independent 

of the activities it audits. The effectiveness of the internal fi nancial control systems and procedures are 

monitored by the management and the internal audit function will be out-sourced to a qualifi ed accounting 

fi rm in Singapore. 

The appointed internal auditors shall be responsible for the preparation of internal audit plans to be 

reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The appointed internal auditors shall remain independent 

of management and shall report directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 

shall also meet at least annually to ensure the adequacy of the internal audit functions. 
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Communication with Shareholders
Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with 
shareholders.

Greater Shareholder Participation
Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and 
allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the 
company.

The Company is committed to regular and proactive communication with its shareholders in line with 

continuous disclosure obligations of the Company according to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

Pertinent information will be disclosed to shareholders in a timely, fair and equitable manner.

Communications are made through:-

 – annual report that are prepared and issued to all shareholders;

 – periodic results announcements;

 – media and analyst meetings;

 – circulars and notices to the shareholders

 – press releases; and 

 – disclosures to the SGX-ST via SGXNET

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of 

accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and growth. The participation of shareholders 

is encouraged at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. The Chairman of the Audit, Remuneration and 

Nominating Committees will be available at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to answer questions 

relating to the work of these committees. The External Auditors will also be present to assist the Directors 

in addressing any relevant queries from the shareholders. The Group fully supports the Corporate 

Governance Code’s principle to encourage active shareholders participation.

If any shareholder is unable to attend, he is allowed to appoint up to two proxies to vote on his behalf at 

the meeting through proxy forms sent in advance.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted the Best Practice Guide on Dealing in Securities and has issued a policy 

on the dealings in the securities of the Company to its Directors and Management.  The Company and 

its offi cers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares during the period commencing one month 

before the announcement of the Group’s fi nancial results and ending on the date of the announcements of 

the relevant results or when they are in possession of any unpublished price sensitive information on the 

Group. In addition the Directors and Management are expected not to deal in the Company’s securities on 

short term consideration.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Details of Interested Person Transactions for the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007 are disclosed in the 

audited fi nancial statements. To ensure compliance with the relevant rules under Chapter 9 of the SGX-

ST Listing Manual on interested person transactions, the Board and Audit Committee regularly reviews 

if the Company will be entering into any interested person transaction and if it does, to ensure that the 

Company complies with the requisite rules under Chapter 9. When a potential confl ict of interest arises, 

the Director concerned does not participate in discussions and refrains from exercising any infl uence over 

other members of the Board.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than disclosed in the audited fi nancial statements, there are no material contracts of the Company 

or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling shareholder subsisting at the end of 

the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of signifi cant 

business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s 

policies and strategies. Management will also review the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk. In 

addition, the Company will (a) seek the approval from the Board of Directors before entering into any 

foreign exchange hedging transactions and (b) put in place adequate procedures which must be reviewed 

and approved by the Audit Committee and all foreign exchange hedging policies will be approved and 

reviewed by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors intends to engage an external consultant to undertake a study of the Group’s 

inherent business risk profi le with a view to ensure that the appropriate internal controls are put in place to 

mitigate the impact of these risks.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited fi nancial statements of the 

Company and the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007.

During the fi nancial year, the name of the Company was changed from China Entertainment Sports Ltd. to 

Chasen Holdings Limited.

1. DIRECTORS

 The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 Low Weng Fatt (i)

 Siah Boon Hock (i) 

 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap (ii)

 Yong Kwet Leong (iii)

 Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) (iii)

 (i) Appointed as Executive Director on 6 February 2007

 (ii) Appointed as Non-executive Director on 6 February 2007

 (iii) Appointed as Independent Director on 6 February 2007

 

2. ARRANGEMENT TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

 Neither at the year of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year was the Company 

a party to any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire 

benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body 

corporate.

3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the Company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the 

share capital and debentures of the Company or related corporations as recorded in the Register of 

Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 

except as follows:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

Chasen Holdings Limited 

(Formerly known as China 

Entertainment Sports Ltd.)

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt 4,508,069,000 4,508,069,000 – –

Siah Boon Hock 949,655,000 949,655,000 – –

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 4,805,379,000 4,805,379,000 – –
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3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT’D)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

Chasen Logistics Services  

Limited

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 43,137,500 43,137,500

Siah Boon Hock – – 9,807,500 9,807,500

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 45,975,000 45,975,000

Chasen Logistics & Engineering 

Services Pte Ltd

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 35 35

Siah Boon Hock – – 7 7

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 37 37

Rui Heng International Pte Ltd

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 80,876 80,876

Siah Boon Hock – – 17,038 17,038

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 86,195 86,195

CLE Engineering Services Pte Ltd

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 35 35

Siah Boon Hock – – 7 7

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 37 37

REI Technologies Pte Ltd

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 102,495 102,495

Siah Boon Hock – – 21,592 21,592

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 109,237 109,237

THH Logistics Sdn Bhd

Ordinary shares:

Low Weng Fatt – – 172,550 172,550

Siah Boon Hock – – 36,350 36,350

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – 183,900 183,900
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3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT’D)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

At beginning of 
year or date of 
appointment or 
completion of 

date of reverse 
takeover offer At end of year

Chasen (Shanghai) Hi Tech 

Machinery Services Pte Ltd

Paid-up capital:

Low Weng Fatt – – US$501,430 US$501,430

Siah Boon Hock – – US$105,332 US$105,332

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – US$534,413 US$534,413

Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi Tech 

Services Private Ltd

Paid-up capital:

Low Weng Fatt – – US$62,118 US$62,118

Siah Boon Hock – – US$13,086 US$13,086

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap – – US$66,204 US$66,204

4. DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a 

benefi t which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(6) of the Singapore Companies Act, by 

reason of a contract made by the Company or related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of 

which he is a member or with a company of which he has a substantial interest, except as disclosed 

in the fi nancial statements.  

5. OPTIONS GRANTED

 During the fi nancial year, there were no options granted to any person to take up unissued shares in 

the Company or any corporation in the Group.

6. OPTIONS EXERCISED

 During the fi nancial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporations in the Group 

issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares.
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7. OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
 

 At the end of the fi nancial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation 

in the Group under option.

8. AUDITORS

 The auditors, LTC & Associates, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Low Weng Fatt

Director

Siah Boon Hock

Director

Singapore, 28 June 2007
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In the opinion of the directors:-

(i) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group are 

drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group 

as at 31 March 2007 and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group 

for the fi nancial period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007; and

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 

to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

Low Weng Fatt

Director

Siah Boon Hock

Director

Singapore, 28 June 2007
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Chasen Holdings Limited
For the fi nancial period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007

We have audited the consolidated fi nancial statements of Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet of the Company and consolidated balance 

sheet of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and consolidated cash fl ow statement of the Group for the fi nancial period from 1 

January 2006 to 31 March 2007, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes. The fi nancial statements of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2006 were audited 

by another fi rm of auditors whose report dated 26 July 2006 expressed a qualifi ed opinion on those 

statements as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial 

statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and 

Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the fi nancial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, 

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group are 

properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the 

“Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2007, and the results, changes in equity 

and cash fl ows of the Group for the fi nancial period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007; and
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(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

LTC & Associates
Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore, 28 June 2007
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the Financial Period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements

Note

1 January 2006
to 31 March 

2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December

2005*
$’000

Revenue 4 20,786 13,397

Cost of sales (12,301) (6,288)

Gross profi t 8,485 7,109

Other operating income 5 526 162

9,011 7,271

Distribution and selling expenses (1,874) (881)

Administrative expenses (2,236) (1,264)

Finance costs 6 (191) (66)

Goodwill arising from reverse acquisition written off (1,856) –

Profi t before taxation 7 2,854 5,060

Taxation 9 (892) (825)

Net profi t for the fi nancial period 1,962 4,235

Net profi t for the fi nancial period attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 1,961 4,235

Minority interest 1 –

1,962 4,235

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 10 0.0157 0.0341

* The comparative fi gures have been restated to refl ect the prior year adjustments (see note 27)
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The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements
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Group Company

Note

31 March  
2007
$’000

31 December
2005*
$’000

31 March 
2007
$’000

31 March 
2006
$’000

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 11 4,716 3,860 – 129

 Investments in subsidiaries 12 – – 36,000 94

4,716 3,860 36,000 223

Current assets
 Trade receivables 13 3,885 4,015 – –

 Equity security available-for-sale – – – 2,800

 Other receivables, deposits and 

  prepayments 14 740 1,276 30 37

 Cash and cash equivalents 15 6,777 6,058 2 1

11,402 11,349 32 2,838

Current liabilities
 Bank loan (secured) 16 109 109 – –

 Trade payables 17 1,004 241 – 394

 Other payables and provisions 18 1,167 2,751 – 783

 Obligations under hire purchase 

  contracts

19 238 125 – –

 Provision for taxation 470 772 – –

2,988 3,998 – 1,177

Net current assets 8,414 7,351 32 1,661

Non-current liabilities
 Bank loan (secured) 16 693 820 – –

 Obligations under hire purchase 

  contracts

19 326 374

– –

 Deferred taxation 20 36 18 – –

1,055 1,212 – –

Net assets 12,075 9,999 36,032 1,884

Shareholders’ equity
 Share capital 21 7,812 7,500 49,209 13,209

 Special capital reserve – – 1,351 1,351

 Translation reserve (214) (13) – –

 Retained profi ts/(Accumulated losses) 4,473 2,512 (14,528) (12,676)

12,071 9,999 36,032 1,884

 Minority interest 4 – – –

12,075 9,999 36,032 1,884

* The comparative fi gures have been restated to refl ect the prior year adjustments (see note 27)
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the Financial Period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements

Share 
capital
$’000

Translation 
reserve
$’000

Retained 
profi ts
$’000

Minority 
interest

$’000
Total
$’000

Group

Balance at 1 January 2006 7,500 (13) 2,512 – 9,999

Arising from partial disposal of a 

subsidiary

– – – 3 3

Increase in share equity arising from 

reverse acquisition

1,888 – – – 1,888

Cost of equity transactions * (1,576) – – – (1,576)

Net profi t for the fi nancial period – – 1,961 1 1,962

Foreign currency translation differences – (201) – – (201)

Balance at 31 March 2007 7,812 (214) 4,473 4 12,075

Balance at 1 January 2005, as originally 

reported

900 (70) 6,633 – 7,463

Prior year adjustments (Note 27) – – (103) – (103)

Balance at 1 January 2005, as restated 900 (70) 6,530 – 7,360

New shares issued during the

 fi nancial year

147 – – – 147

Bonus shares issued during the

 fi nancial year

6,453 – (6,453) – –

Net profi t for the fi nancial year as 

originally reported

– – 4,480 – 4,480

Prior year adjustments (Note 27) – – (245) – (245)

Net profi t for the fi nancial year, as 

restated – – 4,235 – 4,235

Foreign currency translation differences – 57 – – 57

Dividend paid – – (1,800) – (1,800)

Balance at 31 December 2005 7,500 (13) 2,512 – 9,999

* Cost of equity transactions included non-audit fee paid to the auditors of the Company amounted to $90,000.
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Share 
capital
$’000

Share 
Premium

$’000

Special 
capital 
reserve 
$’000

Accumulated 
losses
$’000

Total
$’000

Company

Balance at 1 April 2006 13,209 – 1,351 (12,676) 1,884

Issue of shares 36,000 – – – 36,000

Net loss for the fi nancial year – – – (1,852) (1,852)

Balance at 31 March 2007 49,209 – 1,351 (14,528) 36,032

Balance at 1 April 2005 14,580 6,487 – (20,292) 775

New shares issued during the fi nancial 

year 13,630 216 – – 13,846

Transfer from share premium to share 

capital 6,703 (6,703) – – –

Capital reduction exercise (21,704) – 1,351 20,353 –

Net loss for the fi nancial year – – – (12,737) (12,737)

Balance at 31 March 2006 13,209 – 1,351 (12,676) 1,884
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the Financial Period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007

The accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the consolidated fi nancial statements

1 January 2006 
to 31 March 

2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December 

2005
$’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities:-

 Profi t before taxation 2,854 5,060

 Adjustments for:

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,125 669

  (Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) 1

  Goodwill arising from reverse acquisition written off 1,856 –

  Interest income (98) (111)

  Interest expense 92 61

 Operating profi t before working capital changes 5,819 5,680

  Increase in trade and other receivables (880) (1,460)

  Increase in trade and other payables 280 167

Cash generated from operations 5,219 4,387
 Tax paid (1,176) (1,578)

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,043 2,809

Cash fl ows from investing activities:-

 Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (Note 12) (168) –

 Proceeds from partial disposal of investment in a subsidiary 3 –

 Purchase of plant and equipment (1,624) (861)

 Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 73 1

 Interest received 98 111

Net cash used in investing activities (1,618) (749)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities:-

 Interest paid (92) (61)

 Repayments of bank loan (127) (107)

 Repayments of hire purchase contracts (259) (177)

 Dividend paid (1,099) –

 Pledged fi xed deposits placed with banks (19) (10)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (1,596) (355)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalent 829 1,705

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period/year 5,399 3,681

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances in foreign currencies (129) 13

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year 6,099 5,399

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash and bank balances 6,099 3,528

Fixed deposits 678 2,530

6,777 6,058

Less: Fixed deposits pledged (678) (659)

6,099 5,399

During the fi nancial period, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 

$1,948,000 (2005: $861,000) of which $324,000 (2005: Nil) was acquired by means of fi nance leases. Cash 

payments of $1,624,000 (2005: $861,000) were paid to purchase property, plant and equipment.



Chasen Ho ld ings  L im i ted  2007 annua l  repor t  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 March 2007

42

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

consolidated fi nancial statements.

1. GENERAL

 Chasen Holdings Limited (the “Company”) formerly known as China Entertainment Sports Ltd, is a 

limited liability company, which is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and publicly traded on 

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

 During the fi nancial year, the name of the Company changed to Chasen Holdings Limited. Pursuant 

to an Acquisition Agreement signed between the Company and the shareholders of Chasen 

Logistics Services Limited (CLS) on 11 March 2006, the Company had on 12 February 2007 

completed the acquisition of 7 companies (“Acquired Group”) from Shareholders of CLS (see Note 

2). The consolidated fi nancial statements for the Group is prepared and presented as a continuation 

of the Acquired Group (the acquirer for reverse acquisition accounting purposes), and accordingly 

the comparative fi gures presented in the consolidated fi nancial statements are those of the Acquired 

Group.

 In the Company’s (the legal parent) separate fi nancial statements, the investment in the Acquired 

Group (the legal subsidiary) is accounted for in accordance with the requirement of FRS27 

“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”. (See Note 3(II)(a)) 

 The registered offi ce of the Company is located at 80 Raffl es Place #25-01 UOB Plaza I Singapore 

048624 and its principal place of business is at 18 Jalan Besut Singapore 619571.

 The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding company. The principal 

activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 12 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial period from 1 January 2006 to 

31 March 2007 and balance sheet of the Company as at 31 March 2007 were authorised for issue 

in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the date of the Statement by Directors.

2. REVERSE ACQUISITION UNDERTAKEN BY THE COMPANY

 Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement signed between the Company and the shareholders of 

CLS on 11 March 2006, the Company has on 12 February 2007 completed the acquisition of the 

Acquired Group from shareholders of CLS for a purchase consideration of $36,000,000.

 The purchase consideration was satisfi ed by the allotment and issuance of 12,413,793,000 new 

shares in the Company at $0.0029 per new shares. Following the allotment and issuance of these 

new shares, the shareholders of CLS became the major shareholders of the Company with 95% of 

the Company’s enlarge share capital.

 The acquisition of the Acquired Group has been accounted for in the consolidated fi nancial 

statements as a reverse acquisition as set out in Note 3(II)(b). For the purpose of reverse acquisition 

accounting, the cost of acquisition by the Acquired Group (the legal subsidiary) of the Company (the 

legal parent) is recorded as equity. The cost of acquisition is determined using the fair value of the 

issued equity of the Company before the acquisition being 6,551,140 consolidated shares at about 

$0.29 per shares totally about $1,888,000. It is deemed to be incurred by the Acquired Group in the 

form of equity issued to the shareholders of the legal entity.

 



43

re loca t ion  ser v ices     pack ing  ser v ices     warehous ing  & re la ted  ser v ices     techn ica l  se r v ices

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 March 2007

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 (I) Basis of presentation

  (a) Basis of accounting 

   The fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) including related interpretations promulgated by 

the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance as required by the Singapore 

Companies Act.  

   The fi nancial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars and prepared under the 

historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

   The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. It 

also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the fi nancial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the fi nancial period.  Although these estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those 

estimates.

  (b) Adoption of new and revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards

   In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised FRSs issued by 

the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance (CCDG) that are relevant to its 

operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2006. 

   The adoption of the new and revised FRSs will have no material impact on the fi nancial 

statements of the Group and the Company.

   Certain new accounting standards have been published that are effective for accounting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.  The directors anticipate that the 

adoption of these Standards in future periods will have no material impact on the 

fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company.

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

  (a) Basis of consolidation

   Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the Company. Control exists when the 

Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the fi nancial and operating 

policies of the Company so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

   Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment in values. 

The Group’s fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 

method. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the fi nancial period 

are included or excluded from the Group’s fi nancial statements from their respective 

dates of acquisition or disposal. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

   Intercompany balances and transactions and resulting unrealised profi ts are eliminated 

in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses resulting from intercompany transactions 

are also eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered. Profi ts and losses resulting from 

transactions between the Group and its associates are also eliminated on consolidation 

to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates. Where necessary, adjustments 

are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to 

bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group.

   Minority interest represents the portion of profi t and loss and net assets in subsidiaries 

not held by the Group. They are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within 

equity, separately from the parent’s shareholder’s equity and are separately disclosed in 

the consolidated profi t and loss account.  

  (b) Reverse acquisition

 

   The acquisition of the Acquired Group on 12 February 2007 as set out in Note 2 has 

been accounted for as a reverse acquisition and the legal subsidiary (the Acquired 

Group) is considered the acquirer for accounting purposes. Accordingly the Group’s 

consolidated income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and 

cash fl ow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005 are that of the Acquired 

Group’s fi nancial statements.

   Since such consolidated fi nancial statements represent a continuation of the fi nancial 

statements of the Acquired Group:

   (i) the assets and liabilities of the Acquired Group are recognized and measured in 

the consolidated balance sheet at their pre-combination carrying amount;

 

   (ii) the retained earnings and other equity balances recognized in those consolidated 

fi nancial statements are the retained earnings and other equity balances of the 

Acquired Group immediately before the business combination;

   (iii) the amount recognized as issued equity instruments in those consolidated 

fi nancial statements is determined by adding to the issued equity of the Acquired 

Group immediately before the business combination the costs of the combination 

of the acquisition (Note 2). However, the equity structure appearing on those 

consolidated fi nancial statements (i.e. the number and type of equity instruments 

issued) refl ect the equity structure of the legal parent (the Company), including 

the equity instruments issued by the Company to refl ect the combination; and

   (iv) the comparative fi gures presented in these consolidated fi nancial statements are 

that of the Acquired Group.
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (b) Reverse acquisition (cont’d)

 

   Consolidated fi nancial statements prepared following a reverse acquisition shall refl ect 

the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the legal parent (the 

Company). Therefore the cost of the business combination for the acquisition is 

allocated to the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the legal parent 

that satisfy the recognition criteria at their value as at 12 February 2007. The excess of 

the cost of the combination over the Acquired Group’s interest in the net fair value is 

recognized as goodwill.

   Reverse acquisition accounting applies only in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

In the legal parent (the Company’s) separate fi nancial statements, the investment in 

the legal subsidiary (the Acquired Group) is accounted for at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet.

 

  (c) Impairment of goodwill 

   The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This 

requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the 

goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use required the Group to make an 

estimate of the expected future cash fl ows from the cash generating unit and also to 

choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 

fl ows.

  (d) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

   (1) Measurement

    (i) Property plant and equipment

     Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

    (ii) Component of costs

     The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal 

or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and 

equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is 

incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (d) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

   (2) Depreciation

    Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight line 

method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Estimated Useful Lives

Leasehold building 21 years

Transportation equipment 5-10 years

Tools and equipment 5 years

Furniture, fi ttings, and offi ce equipment 1-5 years

    The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are 

reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

 

    Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the fi nancial statements.

   (3) Subsequent expenditure

    Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has 

already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is 

probable that future economic benefi ts, in excess of the standard of performance 

of the asset before the expenditure was made, will fl ow to the Group and the 

cost can be reliably measured.  Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as 

an expense during the fi nancial year in which it is incurred.

   (4) Disposal 

    On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the income 

statement.

  (e) Investments in subsidiaries

   Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses in 

the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference 

between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment is taken to 

the income statement. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (f) Currency Translation 

   (1) Functional and presentation currency 

    Items included in the fi nancial statements of each entity in the Group are 

measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated fi nancial statements 

are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 

presentation currency.  

 

   (2) Transactions and balances

    Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) 

are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions. Currency translation gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 

rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

recognised in the income statement.

   (3) Translation of Group entities’ fi nancial statements

    The results and fi nancial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the 

currency of a hyperinfl ationary economy) that have a functional currency different 

from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 

follows:

    (i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the 

closing rate at the date of the balance sheet;

    (ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average 

exchange rate (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of 

the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 

which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions); and

    (iii) All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency 

translation reserve within equity. 

  (g) Deferred Taxation

   Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Taxation is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to 

items recognised directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

   Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment 

to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (g) Deferred Taxation (cont’d)

   Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 

differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts in the fi nancial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises 

from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 

combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 

profi t nor loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 

(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 

deferred income tax liability is settled. 

   Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profi t will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

   Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 

controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future.

  (h) Assets under hire purchase contracts

   Where assets are under hire purchase contracts, the assets are capitalised in the 

fi nancial statements and the corresponding obligation treated as a liability. The assets 

so capitalised are depreciated in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on 

depreciation of fi xed assets. The total interest, being the difference between the total 

instalments payable and the capitalised amount is charged to the income statement to 

give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation.

  (i) Leases

   Assets held under fi nance leases and the related lease obligations are recorded in the 

balance sheet at the lower of fair value of the leased assets and the present value of 

the minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases. The excess of the lease 

payments over the recorded lease obligations are treated as fi nance charges which are 

amortised over each lease term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining 

balance of the obligation.

   Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the income statement over the 

period of the leases.
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (j) Revenue recognition

   Revenue for the Group comprises the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of services, net of taxes, rebates and 

discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognized as 

follows:

   Service Income

   Service income is recognized when services are rendered to customers.

   Interest income

   Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest 

method.

   When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable 

amount, being the estimated future cash fl ow discounted at original effective interest 

rate of the instrument. Interest earned on the recoverable amount is recognised as 

interest income in the income statement.

  (k) Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.  For the 

purpose of the cash fl ow statement, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of 

bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the 

Company’s and the Group’s cash management.

  (l) Employee benefi ts

 

   Defi ned contribution plan

   

   As required by the law, the Group makes contributions to the state managed retirement 

scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contribution is recognised as 

compensation expense in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the 

contribution.

   Employee leave entitlement

   Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. 

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered 

by employees up to the balance sheet date.
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (m) Provisions 

   Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past events, it is probable that an outfl ow of resources will be required to 

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

  (n) Impairment of assets

   Property, plant and equipment, development costs capitalised as intangible assets and 

investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication 

that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of the asset is 

estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

   For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is 

determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash fl ows 

that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable 

amount is determined for the Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) to which the asset 

belongs.

   If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement unless the asset 

is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation decrease.

   An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since 

the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than 

goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation 

or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A 

reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the income 

statement, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal 

is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on 

the same revalued asset was previously recognised in income statement, a reversal of 

that impairment is also recognised in income statement.

  (o)  Trade receivables 

   Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An 

allowance for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective 

evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 

the original terms of the receivables.  The amount of the allowance is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the allowance is 

recognised in the income statement.
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3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONT’D) 

 (II) Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

  (p) Trade payables

   Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

  (q) Fair values of fi nancial assets and liabilities

 

   The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and liabilities included in fi nancial statements 

approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

  (r) Borrowings

   Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  

Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the 

proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to the income 

statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

   Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet 

date are included in current borrowings in the balance sheet even though the original 

term was for a period longer than twelve months and an agreement to refi nance, or to 

reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the balance sheet date 

and before the fi nancial statements are authorised for issue. Other borrowings due to 

be settled more than twelve months after the balance sheet date are included in non-

current borrowings in the balance sheet.

4. REVENUE

 Revenue represents invoiced value of services rendered less returns and discounts.

 

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December 

2005
$’000

Relocation services 12,771 10,222

Packing services 1,938 1,463

Warehousing and related services 2,315 1,712

Technical services 3,762 –

20,786 13,397
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5.  OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Bank interest income 98 111

Reimbursement costs 386 –

Other income 42 51

526 162

6. FINANCE COSTS

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Hire purchase interest 36 25

Bank loan interest 55 36

Factoring interest & charge 9 5

Loss on foreign exchange differences, net 79 –

Bank charges 12 –

191 66
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

 This is determined after charging/(crediting) :

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,125 669

Directors’ fee:

 - directors of subsidiaries 26 47

Directors’ remuneration:

 - directors of subsidiaries 568 299

Loss/(Gain) on foreign exchange differences, net 79 (71)

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) 1

Operating lease expense

 - land and building 474 154

 - equipment 19 5

 - motor vehicles 208 –

8. STAFF COST

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Wages and salaries and other staff related expenses 5,911 3,269

Employers’ contribution to defi ned contribution plan 599 355

Directors’ remuneration:

 - directors of subsidiaries

568 299

Directors’ fee 26 47

Staff welfares 716 417

7,820 4,387
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9. TAXATION

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Current taxation:

 Singapore 317 847

 Foreign 539 –

Over provision of prior year taxation – (44)

Deferred taxation 36 22

892 825

 The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense by applying the Singapore 

income tax rate of 18% (Year 2005: 20%) to profi t before tax as a result of the following differences:

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Profi t before taxation 2,854 5,060

Income tax expense at statutory rate 514 1,012

Tax effects on non-allowable items 334 44

Over provision of prior year taxation – (44)

Tax effect on exemption scheme and rebates (18) (11)

Prior year adjustment – 49

Tax effects of different tax schemes in other country 62 (230)

Others – 5

892 825

 In accordance with the “Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) for Enterprises 

with Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprises”, a wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises can 

enjoy tax concessions. Upon approval of the application, the enterprise will be granted exemption 

from income tax on its chargeable income for the fi rst two years from the year it attains accumulated 

profi ts and will enjoy a reduced tax rate for the subsequent three years on its chargeable income.

 The subsidiary of the Company in PRC failed to obtain approval to enjoy the above said tax exempt 

status resulting in an income tax payable at a tax rate of 33% of its chargeable income.



55

re loca t ion  ser v ices     pack ing  ser v ices     warehous ing  & re la ted  ser v ices     techn ica l  se r v ices

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 March 2007

10. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profi t attributable to shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the fi nancial period.

Group
1 January 2006

to 31 March
2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December  

2005
$’000

Net profi t attributable to members of the Company 1,961 4,235

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 

for basic earnings per share 12,522,226,000 12,413,793,000

Basic earnings per share (cents) 0.0157 0.0341

 There is no dilution as there is no outstanding option.

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007:

 

Leasehold 

building

$’000

Transportation 

equipment

$’000

Tools and 

equipment

$’000

Furniture,

fittings, 

and office 

equipment

$’000

Total

$’000

Group

Cost 

As at 1 January 2006 1,689 2,832 2,285 239 7,045

On acquisition of subsidiaries – 46 126 – 172

Additions 96 1,142 566 144 1,948

Disposals – (100) (75) – (175)

Translation differences (3) (45) (41) (1) (90)

As at 31 March 2007 1,782 3,875 2,861 382 8,900

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2006 224 1,499 1,314 148 3,185

Charge 135 445 493 52 1,125

Disposals – (68) (43) – (111)

Translation differences (1) (6) (8) – (15)

As at 31 March 2007 358 1,870 1,756 200 4,184

Net book value

As at 31 March 2007 1,424 2,005 1,105 182 4,716
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Leasehold 

improvement

$’000

Furniture and 

equipment

$’000

Computer 

and software

$’000

Total

$’000

Company

Cost 

As at 1 April 2006 85 66 55 206

Disposals (85) (66) (55) (206)

As at 31 March 2007 – – – –

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 April 2006 18 17 42 77

Charge 17 13 – 30

Disposals (35) (30) (42) (107)

As at 31 March 2007 – – – –

Net book value

As at 31 March 2007 – – – –

 For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2005:

 

Leasehold 

building

$’000

Transportation 

equipment

$’000

Tools and 

equipment

$’000

Furniture,

fittings, 

and office 

equipment

$’000

Total

$’000

Group

Cost 

As at 1 January 2005 1,566 2,461 1,960 151 6,138

Additions 121 348 304 88 861

Disposals – – (2) – (2)

Translation differences 2 23 23 – 48

As at 31 December 2005 1,689 2,832 2,285 239 7,045

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2005 149 1,226 1,002 134 2,511

Charge 74 271 310 14 669

Disposals – – (1) – (1)

Translation differences 1 2 3 – 6

As at 31 December 2005 224 1,499 1,314 148 3,185

Net book value

As at 31 December 2005 1,465 1,333 971 91 3,860
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
 

Leasehold 

improvement

$’000

Furniture and 

equipment

$’000

Computer 

and software

$’000

Total

$’000

Company

Cost 

As at 1 April 2005 84 62 43 189

Additions 1 5 13 19

Disposals – (1) (1) (2)

As at 31 March 2006 85 66 55 206

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 April 2005 1 4 26 31

Charge 17 14 17 48

Disposals – (1) (1) (2)

As at 31 March 2006 18 17 42 77

Net book value

As at 31 March 2006 67 49 13 129

 For the fi nancial period ended 31 March 2007:

 (i) The Group purchased $408,000 of assets under hire purchase (Year 2005: $69,000).

 (ii) The net book value of motor vehicles of the Group purchased under hire purchase is 

approximately $681,000 (Year 2005: $447,000).

 (iii) The leasehold building of the Company is mortgaged to a bank for certain credit facilities 

granted including a bank loan (Note 16).

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 March 
2006
$’000

Unquoted equity share , at cost 36,000 11,600

Allowance for impairment in value – (11,506)

36,000 94
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Pecentage of equity held

Name of company
(Country of incorporation/
place of business) Principal activities

31 March 
2007

%

31 March 
2006 or  

completion 
of date of 
take over 

offer
%

Held by the Company

Chasen Logistics Services 

Limited (Singapore)

Relocation services, industrial 

packing, warehousing, 

transportation, freight forwarding 

and shipping

100 100

Borderplus Sdn Bhd 

(Malaysia)

Business development – 100

FRD Holdings Inc (Hong Kong) Organising racing events, racing 

courses and related motor sports 

events

– 60

Held by the CLS

Chasen Logistics 

& Engineering Services Pte Ltd (i)

(Singapore)

Investment Holding 100 100

Ruiheng International Pte Ltd (i) 

(Singapore)

Investment Holding 100 100

REI Technologies Pte Ltd (i) 

(Singapore)

Engineering services 99 99

CLE Engineering Services Pte 

Ltd (i) (Singapore)

Investment Holding 100 100

Held by FRD Holdings Inc

Formula Racing Development 

Limited (Hong Kong)

Organising car racing competition 

and training 

– 60
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Pecentage of equity held

Name of company
(Country of incorporation/
place of business) Principal activities

31 March 
2007

%

31 March 
2006 or  

completion 
of date of 
take over 

offer
%

Held by Chasen Logistics & Engineering Services Pte Ltd

Chasen (Shanghai) Hi Tech 

Machinery Services Pte Ltd (ii)

(People’s Republic of China 

“PRC”)

General activities relating to high 

value machinery and equipment

100 100

Chasen Sino-Sin (Beijing) Hi 

Tech Services Private Ltd (iv) 

(People’s Republic of China 

“PRC”)

General activities relating to high 

tech machinery and equipment, 

and relocation services

100 100

Held by Ruiheng International Pte Ltd 

(formerly known as Chasen International Pte Ltd)

THH Logistics Sdn Bhd (iii) 

(Malaysia)

Provider of logistics and 

transportation services

100 100

Held by Formula Racing Development Limited

Zhuhai Formula Racing 

(People’s Republic of China)

Organising car racing competition 

and training

– 60

 

 (i) Audited by LTC & Associates.

 (ii) Audited by Cheng Hui Certifi ed Public Accountants, PRC for local statutory audit and audited 

by LTC & Associates for group consolidation purposes.

 (iii) Moore Stephens Associates and Co, Malaysia, has been appointed as the auditors for local 

statutory audit, and audited by LTC & Associates for group consolidation purpose.

 (iv) Audited by Beijing HengChengYongXin Certifi ed Public Accountants, PRC for local statutory 

audit and audited by LTC & Associates for group consolidation purposes.

 On 7 March 2006, CLS acquired 100% equity interest in Ruiheng International Pte Ltd (formerly 

known as “Chasen International Pte. Ltd.”), a company incorporated in Singapore, for a cash 

consideration of approximately $205,000.The fair value of the net identifi able assets of Ruiheng 

International Pte Ltd was approximately $205,000. 
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

 As a result of the acquisition of Ruiheng International Pte Ltd, CLS also acquired THH Logistics Sdn 

Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ruiheng International 

Pte Ltd.

 Assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries acquired by CLS during the period were as follows:

31 March
2007
$’000

Property, plant and equipment 172

Cash and bank balances 37

Other payables (4)

Group’s share of net assets acquired 205

Total consideration 205

Consideration paid 205

Less: Cash of subsidiaries (37)

Net cash paid 168

 On 28 April 2006 CLS incorporated REI Technologies Pte Ltd with a paid-up capital of $300,000 

divided by 300,000 shares. On 23 August 2006, CLS disposed 3,000 shares or 1% of the paid-

up capital for a cash consideration of $3,000 to an employee of that subsidiary. Pursuant to an 

agreement dated 23 August 2006, CLS has agreed to sell a further 39% of its shares in REI 

Technologies Pte Ltd to that employee on or before 28 April 2008.

 On 31 July 2006, CLS incorporated a new wholly owned subsidiary in CLE Engineering Services Pte 

Ltd with a paid-up capital of $100 divided by 100 shares. CLE Engineering Services Pte Ltd was 

dormant since date of incorporation.  

 On 27 September 2006, the Group has obtained a business licence to invest up to US$1,200,000 in 

Chasen (Beijing) Hi Tech Machinery Services Pte Ltd. As at 31 March 2007, the Group has injected 

US$180,000 (equivalent to approximately $286,000) into this subsidiary.

13. TRADE RECEIVABLES

 Group
31 March 

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Outside parties 3,933 4,063

Less: Allowances for doubtful trade receivables (48) (48)

3,885 4,015
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13. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

 The movement in the allowances for doubtful trade receivables account is as follows:

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Balance at beginning and end of period/year   48 48

 The Company and the Group deals with customers who are reputable in both domestic and 

international markets. Management believes that there is no credit risk which warrants an allowance 

for impairment of the Company’s and the Group’s trade receivables.

 The carrying amounts of current trade receivables approximate their fair values and are denominated 

in the following currencies:

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Singapore Dollar 2,845 2,393

United States Dollar 69 148

Renminbi 456 1,474

Malaysian Ringgit 515 –

  3,885 4,015

14. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Other deposit paid 87 43 30 30

Cost of equity transactions – 972 – –

Other receivables & prepayment 653 261 – 7

740 1,276 30 37
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14. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONT’D)

 The carrying amounts of other receivables, deposits and prepayments approximate their fair values 

and are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Singapore Dollar 296 1,034 30 37

Renminbi 436 242 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 8 – – –

740 1,276 30 37

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Cash and bank balances 6,099 3,528 2 1

Fixed deposits placed with banks 678 2,530 – –

6,777 6,058 2 1

 Included in the fi xed deposits of the Group is an amount of approximately $678,000 (Year 2005: 

$659,000) pledged to banks as securities for the bank overdraft facilities.

 Fixed deposits of the Group borne interest rates of between 1.6000% per annum and 3.3680% 

per annum (Year 2005: between 1.0300% per annum and 3.6000% per annum) with maturity dates 

within two months from the end of the fi nancial period. 

 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values.

 Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Singapore Dollar 4,605 3,854 2 1

United States Dollar 629 2,111 – –

Renminbi 1,312 93 – –

Malaysian Ringgit 231 – – –

  6,777 6,058 2 1
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15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONT’D)

 The weighted average effective interest rates of  cash at bank and fi xed deposits at the balance 

sheet date are as follows:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Singapore Dollar 0.60% 0.53% – –

United States Dollar 2.39% 2.71% – –

Renminbi 0.72% 0.34% – –

 The exposure of bank and cash balances to interest rate risks is disclosed in Note 26.

 For the purpose of the consolidated cash fl ow statement, the consolidated cash and cash 

equivalents comprise the following:

Group
31 March 

2007
$’000

31 December 
2005
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6,777 6,058

Less: Pledged bank deposits (678) (659)

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated cash fl ow statement 6,099 5,399

16. BANK LOAN (SECURED)

Group
31 March 

2007
$’000

31 December 
2005
$’000

Bank loan 802 929

Current portion of bank loan (109) (109)

Non-current portion of bank loan 693 820
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16. BANK LOAN (SECURED) (CONT’D)

Group
31 March 

2007
$’000

31 December 
2005
$’000

Bank loan repayable:

Within 1 year 109 109

Within 2 to 5 years 488 482

After 5 years 205 338

802 929

 The bank loan is secured by the following:

 (a) legal mortgage of the Group’s leasehold building,

 (b) joint and several guarantees of certain directors of the Group.  

 The bank loan is repayable over a period of 10 years. Interest is charged at range from 3.73% to 

6.35% per annum (Year 2005: 3.23% to 4.6% per annum).

  

 The carrying amounts of total borrowings approximate their fair values and all the borrowings are 

denominated in Singapore dollars.

17. TRADE PAYABLES

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Outside parties 1,004 241 – 394

 The carrying amounts of current trade payables approximate their fair values and are denominated 

in the following currencies:

        Group         Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Singapore Dollar 1,000 241 – 394

Malaysian Ringgit 4 – – –

  1,004 241 – 394
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18. OTHER PAYABLES AND PROVISIONS

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Accrual 465 797 – 190

Amounts due to directors* 64 6 – 493

Deposit received 172 4 – –

Dividend payable – 1,800 – –

Others 466 144 – 100

1,167 2,751 – 783

 * These represent amounts owing to directors of the Group which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 The carrying amounts of other payables and provisions approximate their fair values and are 

denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Singapore Dollar 1,102 2,751 – 783

Renminbi 49 – – –

Malaysian Ringgit 16 – – –

1,167 2,751 – 783

19. OBLIGATIONS UNDER HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACTS

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Minimum lease payments payable:

Within one year 272 143

Within two to fi ve years 367 409

After fi ve years 8 22

647 574

Less: Future fi nance charges (83) (75)

Present value of minimum lease payments 564 499

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months 

(shown under current liabilities) (238)

        

(125)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 326 374
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19. OBLIGATIONS UNDER HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACTS (CONT’D)

 The rates of interest range from 2.20% to 5.00% per annum (Year 2005: 2.20% to 5.00% per 

annum).

 The carrying amounts of obligations under hire purchase contracts approximate their fair values and 

are denominated in Singapore dollars.

20. DEFERRED TAXATION

 The movement for the period in deferred tax position is as follows:

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

At beginning of the period/year (18) 4

Charge to income for the period/year (18) (22)

At end of the period/year (36) (18)

 The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by  the Group during the period/year:

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Tax effect of:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation (36) (18)



67

re loca t ion  ser v ices     pack ing  ser v ices     warehous ing  & re la ted  ser v ices     techn ica l  se r v ices

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 March 2007

21.  SHARE CAPITAL

Group Company
No of 

ordinary 
shares

’000
$’000

No of 
ordinary 
shares

’000
$’000

At 1 January 2005 /1 April 2005 (1) 291,600 900 291,600 14,580

New shares issued (1) 358,996 147 358,996 13,630

Bonus shares issued (1) – 6,453 – –

Transfer from share premium to 

share capital – – – 6,703

Capital reduction – – – (21,704)

At 31 December 2005 /31 March 2006 650,596 7,500 650,596 13,209

New shares issued arising from 

reverse acquisition (1) (2) 12,413,793 1,888 12,413,793 36,000

Cost of equity transactions – (1,576) – –

At 31 March 2007 13,064,389 7,812 13,064,389 49,209

 With effect from 30 January 2006, the concepts of par value, authorised share capital and also 

share premium were abolished pursuant to Singapore Companies (Amendment) Act 2005.

 (1) The equity structure (number and type of equity issued) at balance sheet date represents 

that of the Company, being the legal parent. However for purpose of reverse acquisition 

accounting, the amount of share capital of the Group at 1 January 2005, 31 December 2005 

and 1 January 2006 represent that of the Acquired Group before the reverse acquisition.

 

 (2) Issue of 12,413,793,000 consideration shares at $0.00029 per share, pursuant to the 

acquisition of the Acquired Group (Note 2)

 The adjustment arose from reverse acquisition accounting and represents the cost of acquisition 

of the Acquired Group (legal subsidiary) by the Company (legal parent). The cost of acquisition is 

determined using the fair value of the issued equity of the Company before the acquisition, being 

6,551,140 shares at about $0.29 per share totally about $1,888,000. Such cost of acquisition is 

deemed to be incurred by the legal subsidiary (i.e. the acquirer for accounting purpose) in the form 

of equity issued to the shareholders of the legal parent (i.e. the acquiree for accounting purpose).
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

 Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

signifi cant infl uence over the other party in making fi nancial and operating decisions. 

 The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties during the period:

 (a) Signifi cant transactions with related parties:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Advances from directors 64 6 – 493

 (b) Key management personnel compensation:

Group
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

Wages and salaries and other related expenses 578 351

Employers’ contribution to defi ned contribution plan 50 39

628 390

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Banker’s guarantee 36 11 – 11
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24. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for non-cancellable operating 

lease payments in respect of the leasehold buildings.  The non-cancellable leases have remaining 

lease terms from 3 to 19 years.  Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable 

lease are as follows:

Group Company
31 March

2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

31 March
2007
$’000

31 March
2006
$’000

Lease payable:

Within one year 479 246 – 111

Within two to fi ve years 892 886 – 111

After fi ve years 2,270 2,508 – –

3,641 3,640 – 222

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Group is currently engaged in four business activities namely relocation services, packing 

services, warehousing and related services, and repair and maintenance and technical services 

(“technical services”).  These activities are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment 

information.

 The principal business activities are:-

 A. Relocation services – being the provision of machinery and equipment moving services 

through projects or maintenance contracts;  

 B. Packing services – being the provision of packing services and the supply of packaging and 

crating materials to our customers; and

 C. Warehousing and related services – being the provision of warehousing of customers’ new 

or replaced machinery and equipment in our premises or open yard prior to installation in 

the customers’ premises or shipping out of Singapore and land transportation services using 

specialised conveyance vehicles and material handling equipment.

 

 D. Technical services – being the provision of turnkey facilities and engineering solutions, repair 

and maintenance services to customers in the high tech electronic industries. 

 

 Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue and expense reported in the Group’s 

income statement that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of such 

revenue and expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment.

 Segment assets consist principally of trade receivables that are directly attributable to a segment.
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

 Unallocated items comprise property, plant and equipment, other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments, fi xed deposits, cash and bank balances, bank loan and overdraft, trade payables, 

other payables and provisions, deferred taxation, provision for taxation, obligations under hire 

purchase contracts, other operating income and operating expense.

 For the fi nancial period from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2007:

Relocation 

services

$’000

Packing 

services

$’000

Warehousing 

and related 

services

$’000

Technical 

services

$’000

Total

$’000

Revenue

External sales 12,771 1,938 2,315 3,762 20,786

Results

Segment results 5,618 1,113 1,095 659 8,485

Unallocated other operating income 526

Unallocated expenses (4,110)

Profit from operations   4,901

Finance costs (191)

Goodwill arising from reverse 

acquisition written off (1,856)

Profit before taxation 2,854

Taxation (892)

Net profit for the financial period 1,962

As at 31 March 2007:

Other information

Segment assets 2,647 401 480 357 3,885

Segment assets – Unallocated 12,233

Total assets 16,118

Segment liabilities – Unallocated (4,043)

Capital expenditure – Unallocated 1,948

Depreciation 704 107 128 15 954

Depreciation – Unallocated 171

Total depreciation 1,125
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

 For the fi nancial year from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005:

Relocation 

services

$’000

Packing 

services

$’000

Warehousing 

and related 

services

$’000

Total

$’000

Revenue

External sales 10,222 1,463 1,712 13,397

Results

Segment results 5,822 877 410 7,109

Unallocated other operating income 162

Unallocated expenses (2,145)

Profit from operations 5,126

Finance costs (66)

Profit before taxation 5,060

Taxation (825)

Net profit for the financial year 4,235

Relocation 

services

$’000

Packing 

services

$’000

Warehousing 

and related 

services

$’000

Total

$’000

As at 31 December 2005:

Other information

Segment assets 3,410 282 323 4,015

Segment assets – Unallocated 11,194

Total assets 15,209

Segment liabilities – Unallocated (5,210)

Capital expenditure – Unallocated 861

Depreciation 350 19 103 472

Depreciation – unallocated 197

Total depreciation 669
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

 Geographical Segment

 Distribution of total revenue by geographical locations of services rendered:-

 

1 January 2006
to 31 March

2007
$’000

1 January to
31 December 

2005
$’000

Singapore and others* 14,792 9,041

PRC 5,077 4,356

Malaysia 917 –

Total 20,786 13,397

 Assets and capital expenditure by geographical areas based on the location of those assets:

Carrying amounts of 
segment assets Capital expenditure

 

31 March 
2007
$’000

31 December
2005
$’000

1 January 2006
to

31 March
2007
$’000

1 January
to

31 December
2005
$’000

Singapore and Others* 10,917 11,393 650 280

PRC 4,191 3,816 981 581

Malaysia 1,010 – 317 –

16,118 15,209 1,948 861

 * Others include countries/city such as Japan, Korea, Hong Kong and United States of America.

26.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 Financial risk factors

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks. The Group’s overall business strategies, 

tolerance of risk and general risk management philosophy are determined by directors in accordance 

with prevailing economic and operating conditions.

 

 (a) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk that companies and other parties will be unable to meet their obligations 

to the Group resulting in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group manages such risks by dealing 

with a diversity of credit-worthy counterparties to mitigate any signifi cant concentration of 

credit risk. Credit policy includes assessing and evaluation of existing and new customers’ 

credit reliability and monitoring of receivable collections. The Group places its cash and cash 

equivalents with creditworthy institutions.
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26.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

 (a) Credit risk (cont’d)

  The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform the 

obligations as at the end of the fi nancial year in relation to each class of fi nancial assets is the 

carrying amount of these assets in the balance sheet.

 (b) Foreign exchange risk

  Foreign exchange risk arises from a change in foreign currency exchange rate, which is 

expected to have adverse effect on the Group in the current reporting period and in future 

years.

  The Group’s main foreign currency risk arises from foreign currency denominated sales and 

purchases, and operating expenses. This risk is mitigated to certain extent by the natural 

hedge between sales receipts and purchases, and operating expenses disbursement. 

  Companies within the Group maintain their books in their respective functional currencies. 

Profi ts and net assets of overseas companies are translated into Singapore dollars, the 

Group’s reporting currency for consolidation purposes. Fluctuations in the exchange rate 

between the functional currencies and Singapore dollars will have an impact on the Group. 

  The Group also maintains foreign currency bank accounts for operating purposes. 

 (c) Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will have an adverse fi nancial effect 

on the Group’s fi nancial conditions and/or results. The primary source of the Group’s interest 

rate risk is its borrowings from fi nancial institutions in Singapore. The Group’s and Company’s 

policy is to manage its interest cost using a combination of fi xed and variable interest rate 

borrowings, where applicable.

  The Group has adequate credit facilities to ensure necessary liquidity as provided from the 

consolidated balance sheet.

  The Group has cash balances placed with reputable banks. The Group manages its interest 

rate risks on its interest income by placing the cash balances in varying maturities and interest 

rate terms.
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26.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 

 (c) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

  The fi nancial assets and liabilities of the Group are non-interest bearing except for bank and 

cash balances and borrowings as set out in the table below, categorised by the earlier of 

contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Variable
Rates

  less than
12 months

  $’000

Variable
Rates

  more than
12 months

  $’000

Fixed
Rates

  less than           
12 months

$’000
Total
$’000

The Group
At 31 March 2007

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,437 – 678 6,115

Liabilities
Borrowings – 802 – 802

The Group
At 31 December 2005

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,255 – 2,530 5,785

Liabilities
Borrowings – 929 – 929

 (d) Liquidity risk

  Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining suffi cient cash and the availability of funding 

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Group maintains suffi cient 

cash balances to provide fl exibility in meeting its day to day funding requirements.
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27 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

 The fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2005 has been restated to refl ect 

the corrections of bonus ($181,000) and property tax ($167,000) that were erroneously recorded 

in the fi nancial year during which they were incurred.  The error on bonus adjustment arose due 

to an incorrect application of accounting policy whereas the error on property tax arose due to 

management oversight.  The corrections have been applied retrospectively and the opening retained 

profi ts have been adjusted accordingly. The effects of the corrections in the fi nancial year ended 31 

December 2005 are as follows:

 

2005
$’000

Decrease in retained profi ts as at 1 January 2005 (103)

Decreased in net profi t (245)

Increase in accrual 348

28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 1. The fi nancial year covers more than one year as the Group changed its fi nancial year to be co-

terminous with the Company. Accordingly, the comparatives fi gures in the fi nancial statements 

and the related noted are not comparable.

 2. The fi nancial statements of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2006 were 

reported by auditor other than LTC & Associates whose report dated 26 July 2006 expressed 

a qualifi ed opinion on those fi nancial statements. The qualifi cations are excerpted as follows:

  “1. The fi nancial statetments for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005 included an 

“except for” opinion in relation to the following matter:

   “The auditors of a subsidiary company in India, Mangalam Energy Private Limited 

were not able to carry out certain auditing procedures or to obtain the information and 

explanations they considered necessary for the purposes of their audit for the year 

ended 31 March 2005 as the statutory books and records and the documentation 

supporting certain transactions were not available or were incomplete. Consequently, 

this may have an effect on the results and the fi nancial position reported in the current 

year for both the Group and the Company.”

   The subsidiary was disposed of during the fi nancial year. Any material misstatement 

arising from the matter referred to above may have a consequential effect on the results 

of the Group for the fi nancial year, which has not been provided for in the fi nancial 

statements.
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28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES (CONT’D)

  2. As the consolidated fi nancial statements of a subsidiary, FRD Holdings Inc. were 

audited in Hong Kong by another fi rm of auditors, we are unable to carry out certain 

audit procedures and obtain all the information and explanation that we considered 

necessary. Consequently,  we are unable to ascertain whether the consolidated fi nancial 

statements of FRD Holdings Inc. that have been consolidated with the Company’s 

fi nancial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of 

the preparation of the Group’s fi nancial statements.

  3. As explained in Note 3 to the fi nancial statements, the Group incurred a net loss of 

$14,252,000 for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2006 and as of that date, the 

Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by $350,000. These factors indicate the 

existence of a material uncertainty which may cast signifi cant doubt about the Group’s 

and thus the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The ability of the Group 

and the Company to continue as going concerns is dependent on the successful 

completion of the acquisition by the Company of Chasen Logistics Services Limited and 

the disposal of FRD Holdings Inc.

   If the Group and the Company are unable to continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future, the Group and the Company may be unable to discharge their 

liabilities in the normal course of the business and adjustments may have to be made 

to refl ect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal 

course of business and at amounts which could differ signifi cantly from the amounts 

at which they are currently recorded in the balance sheets. In addition, the Group and 

the Company may need to accrue for further liabilities that might arise and reclassify 

non-current assets as current assets. No such adjustments have been made to these 

fi nancial statements.”
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Issued and paid-up capital : S$49,209,000

Number of shares issued : 13,064,389,000

Class of shares : Ordinary

Voting right : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 25 JUNE 2007

Size of Holdings
No. of

Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1  –  999 1 0.02 300 0.00

1,000  –  10,000 601 10.46 3,518,500 0.03

10,001  –  1,000,000 4,844 84.32 1,008,922,550 7.72

1,000,001 and above 299 5.20 12,051,947,650 92.25

 Total 5,745 100.00 13,064,389,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 25 JUNE 2007

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Low Weng Fatt 4,508,068,929 34.51

2 Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 3,496,316,920 26.76

3 Yeo Seck Cheong 1,675,862,055 12.83

4 Siah Boon Hock 949,655,164 7.27

5 Cheong Tuck Nang 474,827,582 3.63

6 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 52,784,000 0.40

7 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 38,791,000 0.30

8 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 36,095,000 0.28

9 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 33,843,000 0.26

10 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 19,593,000 0.15

11 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 18,687,000 0.14

12 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 18,150,000 0.14

13 Ang Chin Wan 15,000,000 0.11

14 Koh Kim Tiong 15,000,000 0.11

15 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 12,400,000 0.09

16 Lim Beak Leang 12,000,000 0.09

17 CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd. 11,850,000 0.09

18 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd      11,014,000 0.08

19 Tan Peng Leong 10,000,000 0.08

20 Tan Thiam Chye 9,050,000 0.07

Total 11,418,987,650 87.39
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 25 JUNE 2007

Name Direct Interest % Indirect Interest %

Low Weng Fatt 4,508,069,000 34.51 – –

Siah Boon Hock 949,655,000 7.27 – –

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 3,496,316,650 26.76 – –

Yeo Seck Cheong 1,675,862,000 12.83 – –

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 25 June 2007, approximately 18.63% of the 

Company’s shares listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited were held in the hands of 

the public. Therefore, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Registration No. 199906814G)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(the “Company”)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Banquet 
Hall, Raffl es Country Club, 450 Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Singapore 639932 on the 27th day of July 2007 at 
10.00 a.m. to transact the following business:-

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the fi nancial period ended 31 
March 2007.  Resolution 1

  
2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$143,000 for the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2008 

to be paid quarterly in arrears. (FY2007: S$90,833) Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Low Weng Fatt pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association. Resolution 3

4. To re-elect Siah Boon Hock pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association. Resolution 4

5. To re-elect Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association. 
 [see explanatory note (a)] Resolution 5

6. To re-elect Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association. 
 [see explanatory note (b)] Resolution 6

7. To re-elect Yong Kwet Leong pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association. 
 [see explanatory note (c)] Resolution 7

8. To re-appoint Messrs LTC & Associates as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 
to fi x their remuneration.  Resolution 8

9. To transact any other business of the Company which may properly be transacted at an Annual 
General Meeting. 

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fi t to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions:

10. “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, and the listing rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be and are hereby authorised to issue shares and 
convertible securities in the Company (whether by way of bonus issue, rights issue or otherwise) at 
any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fi t provided that:-

 (a) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this 
Resolution does not exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, of which the 
aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata 
basis to existing shareholders of the Company does not exceed 20% of the Company’s issued 
share capital;
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 (b) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities that 

may be issued under (a) above, the percentage of issued share capital shall be based on the 

issued share capital of the Company at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

  (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

  (ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding 

or subsisting at the time of the passing of this resolution approving the mandate, 

provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Listing Manual; and 

  (iii) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares; and

 

 (c) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority conferred by 

this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 

of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 

required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”  

  [see explanatory note (d)] Resolution 9

11. “That the proposed grant to Low Weng Fatt, an Executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder (as 

defi ned in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited), of an award of 

1,400,000 shares in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Chasen Performance 

Share Plan (“the Plan”) be and is hereby approved.”

 [see explanatory note (e)] Resolution 10

12. “That the proposed grant to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, a Non-Executive Director and a Controlling 

Shareholder (as defi ned in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited), 

of an award of 350,000 shares in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Plan be 

and is hereby approved.”

 [see explanatory note (f)] Resolution 11

13. “That the proposed grant to Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, an Associate of a Controlling Shareholder (as 

defi ned in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited), of an award of 

350,000 shares in the share capital of the Company, in accordance with the Plan be and is hereby 

approved.”

 [see explanatory note (g)] Resolution 12

By Order of the Board

Chew Kok Liang

Company Secretary

Date: 12 July 2007
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Explanatory Notes:-

a. Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, if re-elected, will remain as a member of both Audit and Remuneration Committees.

b. Mr Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric), if re-elected, will remain as Chairman of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration 

Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and is considered an independent director for purposes of Rule 

704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

c. Mr Yong Kwet Leong, if re-elected, will remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a member of both Audit and 

Remuneration Committees and is considered an independent director for purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

d. The proposed ordinary resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the Annual General Meeting until the 

date of the next Annual General Meeting to issue further shares in the Company.  The maximum number of shares, which the 

Directors may issue under this resolution, shall not exceed the quantum set out in the resolution.

e. Resolution 10 in item 11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Mr Low Weng Fatt, who is an Executive 

Director and a Controlling Shareholder, an award of 1,400,000 shares in the share capital of the Company.

 Mr Low Weng Fatt is the Managing Director of our Company and is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning 

and direction of our Group. He played an instrumental role in coordinating the Acquisition, which was completed on 12 

February 2007 and resulted in the integration of the Chasen Group Companies and their business into our Group structure. 

 Mr Low took over the helm of the Company’s subsidiary, Chasen Logistics Services Limited, in 2001. He has been with the 

Chasen Group Companies since 1996 when it operated as a partnership and has played a pivotal role in steering the growth 

of the Chasen Group Companies with his 10 years of experience in the logistics industry. He has ably led the Chasen Group 

Companies by exploiting its fi rst mover advantage in meeting the growing specialist relocation needs of manufacturers and 

other businesses who use sophisticated and expensive machines and equipment in their operations locally and in this region 

and building up a good track record and reputation for the Chasen Group Companies. 

 He has in-depth knowledge of the needs of the business as it evolved over the years. His ability to anticipate business 

trend and demand has enabled us to offer the right type of material handling equipment and special conveyance vehicles to 

customers when they are needed. He also successfully implemented the strategy to develop the Chasen Group Companies’ 

capability to meet the total relocation needs of customers at competitive terms, with prompt, reliable and effi cient service at all 

times than merely providing labour for packing and stuffi ng and unstuffi ng containers. The comprehensive range of services to 

meet all the customers’ relocation logistics needs also enable us to replicate our services overseas in particular the People’s 

Republic of China where similar capabilities are lacking. 

 The range of services now available to the Group’s customers includes the provision of repositioning services in the form of 

maintenance contracts where customers can call for our specialist services at short notice and at predetermined rates as well 

as turnkey relocation projects in major manufacturing centres in this region such as the People’s Republic of China, Malaysia 

and Singapore. 

 Following the Acquisition, Mr Low continues to play an instrumental role in charting our Group’s expansion and business 

development plans. The Directors are of the view that the remuneration package of Mr Low is fair given his contributions to 

the Group. The extension of the Plan to Mr Low is consistent with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees to 

achieve and maintain a high level of performance and contribution which is vital to the success of the Company. Although Mr 

Low already has a shareholding interest in the Company, the extension of the Plan to him will ensure that he is equally entitled, 

with the other employees who are not Controlling Shareholders, to take part in and benefi t from this system of remuneration, 

thereby enhancing his long term commitment to the Group. 

 The participation of and grant of Awards to Mr Low Weng Fatt under the Plan has been approved in principle by shareholders 

when they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. This resolution seeks for the 

abovestated reasons, shareholders approval for the Directors decision to grant an award of 1,400,000 shares to Mr Low Weng 

Fatt in accordance with the Plan.

f. Resolution 11 in item 12 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, who is a 

Non-Executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder, an award of 350,000 shares in the share capital of the Company.

 Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap is a Non-Executive Director of our Company and has been a Director of our Company’s 

subsidiary, Chasen Logistics Services Limited since its incorporation in 1999.
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 Mr Yap is the founder of Chasen Logistics Services Limited, which started its business in 1995 as a partnership to supply 

labour for the stuffi ng and unstuffi ng of containers, packing and warehousing. He managed the Chasen Logistics Services 

Limited’s business until 2001 when he retired from the day-to-day management. Although he is a Non-Executive Director, Mr 

Yap possesses substantial experience in the business of labour supply as well as transport and warehousing as he has been 

in this line since the 1960s. Mr Yap still maintains an advisory role in the Company and the Company is of the view that he 

will be able to provide business networks and market contacts to the Company and its subsidiaries which will be invaluable in 

assisting the Company in its objective of achieving a higher level of performance.

 The extension of the Plan to Mr Yap is consistent with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees to achieve and 

maintain a high level of performance and contribution which is vital to the success of the Company. Although Mr Yap already 

has a shareholding interest in the Company, the extension of the Plan to him will ensure that he is equally entitled, with the 

other employees who are not Controlling Shareholders, to take part in and benefi t from this system of remuneration, thereby 

enhancing his continued commitment to the Group. 

 The participation of and grant of Awards to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap under the Plan has been approved in principle by 

shareholders when they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. For the abovestated 

reasons, the Directors propose to grant an award of 350,000 shares to Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap in accordance with the 

Plan.

g. Resolution 12 in item 13 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to grant to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, who is an 

Associate of a Controlling Shareholder, an award of 350,000 shares in the share capital of the Company.

 Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy is the daughter of our Non-Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder of our Company, 

Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap. Ms Yap holds the position of Administration Manager of our Company’s subsidiary, Chasen 

Logistics Services Limited and is responsible for the day-to-day administrative workfl ow, human resource administration and 

other general administrative matters of the Group. She was also previously in charge of the Group’s accounting matters.

 Having been with the Group since 1995, Ms Yap has acquired in-depth knowledge of many aspects of the Group’s business, 

including its operation and administration. She had also been of invaluable assistance during the reverse takeover process.

 The Directors are of the view that the remuneration package of Ms Yap is fair given her contributions to the Group. The 

extension of the Plan to Ms Yap is consistent with the Company’s objectives to motivate its employees to achieve and maintain 

a high level of performance and contribution which is vital to the success of the Company. As the Plan serves as a recognition 

of the past contributions of those eligible to participate in the Plan, as well as to secure future contributions for the Company 

and the Group from them, the Directors consider it important that Ms Yap should not be excluded from the Plan. The Directors 

consider it crucial for the Company to provide suffi cient incentives which will instill a sense of commitment to the Group. 

 The participation of and grant of Awards to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy under the Plan has been approved in principle by 

shareholders when they approved the Plan at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2007. For the abovestated 

reasons, the Directors propose to grant an award of 350,000 shares to Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy in accordance with the 

Plan.

ABSTENTION FROM VOTING

Pursuant to Rule 853 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the specifi c grant of awards 

to Mr Low Weng Fatt, Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, being Controlling Shareholders and Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, being an 

Associate of a Controlling Shareholder will have to be approved by independent Shareholders in general meetings. Mr Low, Mr 

Yap and their associates will abstain from voting on this resolution at the AGM and shall not accept nominations as proxies unless 

specifi c instructions have been given in the proxy instrument by the Independent Shareholders appointing them on how they wish 

their votes to be cast for resolutions 10 to 12. Shareholders who are eligible to participate in the Plan should abstain from voting on 

10 to 12, and should not accept nominations as proxies unless specifi c instructions have been given in the proxy instrument by the 

Independent Shareholders appointing them on how they wish their votes to be cast for resolutions 10 to 12.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein and confi rm, having 

made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated and opinions expressed in this Notice 

are fair and accurate in all material respects and there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement in this 

Notice misleading in any material respect.
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SGX-ST DISCLAIMER

The Company has obtained the approval of the SGX-ST in respect of the proposed grant of awards to the Directors and Controlling 

Shareholders, Mr Low Weng Fatt and Mr Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap, and Ms Yap Beng Geok Dorothy, an Associate of a Controlling 

Shareholder, pursuant to Rule 1203 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. Notwithstanding 

such approval, the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the statements made, opinions expressed or reports 

contained in this Notice and the approval shall not be taken as an indication of the merits of any of the Resolutions proposed.

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.  A proxy 

need not be a member of the Company.

2. If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company, at 80 Raffl es Place #25-01 

UOB Plaza 1, Singapore 048624 not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

3. The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.

4. In case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.
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CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration Number 199906814G)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this form)

I/We,   (Name)

of    (Address)

being the holder(s) of ordinary shares in the capital of CHASEN HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint 

the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (Note 2) of the Company or:     

Name Address
Number Shareholdings

NRIC/Passport Number (Note 3) (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

     

as my/our proxy/proxies, to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the 

Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Banquet Hall, Raffl es Country Club, 450 Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, 

Singapore 639932 on 27 July 2007 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote in the manner indicated below.  If no specifi c direction as to the manner of 

voting is given, my/our proxy/proxies may vote or abstain at his discretion.

No. Resolution (Note 4)  For Against

1 Adoption of Directors’ Report and Accounts

2 Approval of Directors’ Fees for fi nancial year ending 31 March 2008 to be paid 

quarterly in arrears

3 Re-election of Low Weng Fatt as a Director

4 Re-election of Siah Boon Hock as a Director

5 Re-election of Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap as a Director

6 Re-election of Ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (Eric) as a Director

7 Re-election of Yong Kwet Leong as a Director

8 Re-appointment of Messrs LTC & Associates as Auditors

9 Authority to issue additional shares pursuant to Section 161

10 Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share 

Plan to Low Weng Fatt

11 Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share 

Plan to Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

12 Approval of grant of awards made pursuant to Chasen Performance Share 

Plan to Yap Beng Geok Dorothy

Dated this  day of  2007

Signature of Shareholder(s) or, Common Seal (Note 6)

 

IMPORTANT:

i. For Investors who have used their CPF monies to 

buy Chasen Holdings Limited’s shares, this Report is 

forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 

Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

ii.  This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors 

and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if 

used or purported to be used by them.

Number of Shares Held (Note 5)

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members



Notes:-

1. A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to 

attend and vote in his stead.  Such proxy need not be a Shareholder.

2. If any other proxy/proxies is/are to be appointed, please strike out “Chairman of the Annual General Meeting” and insert the 

name(s) and particulars of the proxy/proxies to be appointed in the blank space provided.

3. Where a Shareholder appoint two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifi es the number of Shares to be 

represented by each proxy.

4. IMPORTANT: If you wish to vote “FOR” the Resolution, please indicate an “X” in the box marked “FOR” the Resolution.  If you 

wish to vote “AGAINST” the Resolution, please indicate an “X” in the box marked “AGAINST” the Resolution.

5. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 

(as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares.  If you 

have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares 

entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 

should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your 

name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 

relate to all the Shares held by you.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be executed under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 

authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed 

either under the common seal of the corporation or under the hand of any offi cer or attorney duly authorised.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 80 Raffl es Place 

#25-01 UOB Plaza 1 Singapore 048624 not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

8. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor or by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other 

authority) or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of 

proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

9. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks 

it to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act (Cap 50).

General:-

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 

illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 

reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered 

against his name in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central 

Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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Corporate Information

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Low Weng Fatt (managing Director)

siah Boon hock (executive Director)

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap (non-executive Director)

ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (eric) (Lead Independent Director)

Yong Kwet Leong (Independent Director)

A u D I T  C O M M I T T E E

ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (eric) (Chairman)

Yong Kwet Leong

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap

R E M u N E R AT I O N  C O M M I T T E E

ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (eric) (Chairman)

Yong Kwet Leong

Yap Koon Bee @ Louis Yap 

N O M I N AT I N G  C O M M I T T E E

Yong Kwet Leong (Chairman)

ng Jwee Phuan @ Frederick (eric)

Low Weng Fatt

C O M pA N Y  S E C R E TA R Y

Chew Kok Liang

R E G I S T E R E D  O F F I C E

80 Raffles Place #25-01

UOB Plaza I

singapore 048624

p R I N C I pA L  p L A C E  O F  B u S I N E S S

18 Jalan Besut

singapore 619571

tel:  (65) 6266 5978

Fax: (65) 6262 4286

Website: www.chasen.com.sg

S H A R E  R E G I S T R A R  A N D

S H A R E  T R A N S F E R  O F F I C E

Lim associates (Pte) Ltd

3 Church street #08-01

samsung hub

singapore 049483

A u D I T O R S  A N D  R E p O R T I N G

A C C O u N TA N T S

LtC & associates 

Certified Public accountants

1 Raffles Place #20-02 OUB Centre

singapore 048616

Partner in charge:  mr tsang siu For thomas

(a member of the Institute of Certified Public 

accountants of singapore)

(appointed since financial year ended 31 march 2007)

p R I N C I pA L  B A N k E R S

DBs Bank Ltd

6 shenton Way

DBs Building tower One

singapore 068809

malayan Banking Berhad

2 Battery Road #01-00

maybank tower

singapore 049907




